

MELISSA TOOLEY AND LAURA BORNFREUND

Skills for Success

Supporting and Assessing Key Habits, Mindsets, and Skills in PreK-12



@NEWAMERICAED | REPORT | NOVEMBER 2014 | #SKILLSFORSUCCESS | EDCENTR.AL/SKILLSFORSUCCESS

About the Authors



Melissa Tooley is a senior policy analyst with New America's Education Policy Program. She provides research and analysis on K-12 policies and practices that impact teaching quality and school leadership. She writes on a variety of topics including college- and career-ready standards, and educator preparation, evaluation, development, and retention.



aura Bornfreund is deputy director of New America's Early Education Initiative. She examines state and federal policies related to learning and teaching birth through grade 3. She writes on a variety of topics including policies that support a strong PreK-3rd grade continuum, educator preparation, retention, evaluation and support, kindergarten, and assessment of young children.

About New America

New America is dedicated to the renewal of American politics, prosperity, and purpose in the Digital Age. We carry out our mission as a nonprofit civic enterprise: an intellectual venture capital fund, think tank, technology laboratory, public forum, and media platform. Our hallmarks are big ideas, impartial analysis, pragmatic policy solutions, technological innovation, next generation politics, and creative engagement with broad audiences. Find out more at <u>newamerica.org/our-story</u>.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the numerous researchers, experts, and practitioners who graciously shared their insights, knowledge, and experiences with us, and those who took the time to review an early draft of this paper, particularly Collaborative for Academic, Emotional, and Social Learning's Linda Dusenbury, Bellwether's Anne Hyslop, Education Counsel's Bethany Little, American Institutes for Research's David Osher, The Ounce of Prevention Fund's Samantha Aigner-Treworgy and Elliot Regenstein, the Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching's Elena Silva, Third Way's Sarah Trumble, and staff at the National School Climate Center. Thanks also to Isabel Huston for her research assistance.

This report was funded by the William and Flora Hewlett Foundation. New America thanks the Foundation for its support. The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors alone.

The New America Education Policy Program's work is made possible through generous grants from the <u>Alliance for Early Success</u>; the <u>Annie E. Casey Foundation</u>; the <u>Bill</u> <u>and Melinda Gates Foundation</u>; the <u>Grable Foundation</u>; the <u>Foundation for Child</u> <u>Development</u>; the <u>Joyce Foundation</u>; the <u>Kresge Foundation</u>; Lumina Foundation; the <u>Pritzker Children's Initiative</u>; the <u>William and Flora Hewlett Foundation</u>; and <u>the W. Clement and Jessie V. Stone Foundation</u>.

Contents

Executive Summary	2
Introduction	6
What are "Skills for Success" and Why Should Schools Focus on Them?	7
Approaches to Building and Assessing Skills for Success	11
Using Skils for Success Assessments for School Improvement and Accountability	24
Governance: Roles for Federal, State, and Local Entities	28
Are There Opportunities to Borrow Practices from Early Education for Later Grades?	33
Conclusions	34
Recommendations	35
Final Thoughts	38
Appendix: What are Different Skills for Success Terms and Definitions?	39
Notes	40

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

A cademic tenacity. Perseverance toward long-term goals. Emotional intelligence. These kinds of habits, mindsets, and non-technical skills are integral to academic, professional, and personal success. Recently, they have begun to enter public discourse as research demonstrating their importance has been made more accessible through the use of terms such as "growth mindsets," "grit," and "character." The various terms used to describe such skills, habits, and mindsets are so numerous that, for this paper, we use a simple phrase that describes the outcomes associated with them: "skills for success."

While high-quality pre-K programs strive to impart many skills for success (SFS) in addition to specific academic content, the same has not been true for most K-12 schools, particularly in later grades. Some argue that this difference is appropriate, as SFS can only be instilled early in life. However, research demonstrates that these skills are malleable, and many can be easily developed through young adulthood. Others argue that K-12 schools cannot, or should not, influence the attainment of these skills. But as some schools begin to experiment with different approaches to imparting these skills, the evidence indicates otherwise. Some of these approaches attempt to directly "teach" SFS, while others focus on ensuring that the climate-the school and classroom environment, policies, and practices-promotes positive teaching and learning conditions that can bolster SFS. Finally, some say schools must confine themselves to academic content due to accountability systems that focus only on outcomes on subject tests. But research shows that many of these skills, such as self-regulation and cooperation, are, in fact, closely linked to academic achievement.

There are some promising approaches available, both from pre-K and K–12, for supporting the skills, habits, and mindsets that enable students to be successful academically as well as professionally and personally

throughout their lives. At the same time, there are still outstanding questions as to: 1) what the most effective and efficient approaches are; 2) how to ensure that educators and parents understand the value of such approaches; and 3) how to best prepare and train educators to maintain their strong focus on developing academic knowledge, while cultivating SFS as well. One thing is clear: school and classroom climate can either help promote or deter the development of SFS. Thus, failing to address a negative or unsupportive educational climate could prevent potential long-term benefits of other SFS efforts from being realized.

Certain habits, mindsets, and non-technical skills are integral to academic, professional, and personal success

To be effective, any SFS approach must be clearly aligned with local needs and goals and be implemented with fidelity. A system of assessments can help achieve these goals. Needs assessments can help inform decisions about strategies to reach SFS goals, while implementation assessments can provide feedback on the quality of strategy implementation and the level of progress associated with those strategies. Well-run schools are already using these types of assessments in other areas to ensure that they are helping move all students toward their full potential.

Increasingly, tools for assessing student-level outcomes are being developed and employed to provide insight on whether SFS goals are being met. Evaluating some types of SFS in individual students is difficult, and may not be possible to do consistently and accurately without significant time and expense. Further, it may



not currently be possible to assess certain skills well at all. But as more research is done, both by academics and practitioners, measures of SFS continue to improve. These assessments, along with higher-quality tests of content knowledge and cognitive skills, such as the new Common Core State Standards assessments, can provide a more comprehensive understanding of students' skills and areas for growth.

Assessments of skills for success can provide a more comprehensive understanding of students' skills and areas for growth

Just because K–12 policymakers and practitioners can measure individual students' SFS does not mean they

necessarily should, at least not in a consequential way for students, such as deciding whether to promote them to the next grade. Instead, they can learn from early education programs that use 1) student-level SFS assessments to help teachers identify and address students' individual needs; 2) teacher observations to inform and improve SFS practices; 3) and ratings of school and classroom climate to create conditions that promote SFS.

Since schools and teachers can positively or negatively influence the development of students' SFS, teacher observations and school environment ratings should over time—be incorporated into educator and school accountability systems, Pre-K–12th grade.

Local educational agencies (LEAs), states, and the federal government can help or hinder schools' efforts to impart and assess SFS. In early education, certain SFS are woven into standards, assessments, and accountability systems, reflecting research that holds up the importance of a comprehensive approach to teaching and learning. Having a state and/or federal focus on cultivating SFS in the same way for K–12 schools could help promote a clearer focus in this area.

However, just putting policies in place will not be sufficient to strengthen these skills in our students. For instance, which education actor(s) "own" the implementation of the policy matters for gaining attention and obtaining support from key stakeholders. Ultimately, whether these efforts are successful will depend on the work of educators, and the communities in which they teach. An important aspect of developing educator and community enthusiasm for SFS is to communicate their value. States, LEAs, and schools can do this by providing evidence for how these skills can help students succeed in school and in life, and explaining how they are a critical, integral piece of the move toward college- and career-ready standards. Above all, educators must be provided with the training necessary to do the work. Policymakers and practitioners must be thoughtful about ensuring sufficient time for high-quality educator training and assessments for formative purposes before moving to report assessment data for public consumption and/or "high stakes" accountability purposes.

Based on a review of the research and strategies discussed within this paper, New America makes several recommendations for how various entities federal and state governments, LEAs and schools, and research institutions—can encourage progress on developing certain SFS in schools, PreK–12.

Four Key Recommendations for Federal and State Policymakers

Federal and state policymakers should set the stage for a greater school focus on bolstering certain skills for success by:

 Providing funding and resources for LEAs and schools to experiment with different implementation models and assessments, potentially through competitive funding programs.

- 2. Promoting a more holistic approach to school assessment and accountability that ensures school and district leaders are held responsible for establishing a positive school climate and culture, a precondition for developing engaged and successful students. One way this could be done is by including school climate measures as part of public reporting and transparency.
- 3. Encouraging shifts in educator practice by incorporating a focus on supporting students' skills for success into educator evaluation systems that inform development and personnel decisions.
- 4. Promoting a more holistic, comprehensive system of student assessments to provide formative information for teachers, parents, and students.

Additional Recommendations

To ensure the above policy recommendations have the desired effect, the following stakeholders should engage in these additional actions:

Federal Policymakers

• Funding more research to help determine the most effective approaches and assessment methods and disseminate that information widely, including to states, LEAs, and schools.

State Policymakers

- Recognizing that passing legislation and establishing regulations to create skills for success standards can help ensure schools prioritize these skills, but are not sufficient on their own. Because of this, policymakers must also ensure that:
 - Standard-setting and coordination at the state level are paired with implementation support at the local level.
 - When developing a comprehensive set of SFS standards, LEAs should be allowed flexibility to stagger the implementation of those

standards based on a local needs assessment that identifies SFS priority areas.

- At the state level, SFS standards are part of a department closely tied to academic instruction and school performance. Not doing so almost guarantees standards will not be incorporated into school and classroom practices.
- At the local level, school leaders and teachers understand why the standards have been created or why they are being asked to focus on school climate. In order to garner backing at the local level, states will need to provide ample communication, effective training, reasonable expectations, and sufficient room for customization. Key assessment measures should be comparable across schools.
- Requiring educator preparation programs, as a part of program approval, to train prospective educators in methods for establishing positive classroom and school environments which can bolster students' SFS.
- Providing LEAs and schools with digestible research on the importance of promoting student SFS on student outcomes—including academic outcomes—to build support for a larger school focus on these skills.

LEA-Level Policymakers

- Clearly communicating with school leaders and teachers to help ensure all educators are on board with intentionally supporting the development of students' SFS.
- Providing ample training for school leaders and teachers on how to develop students' SFS, and use feedback from assessments to drive professional learning opportunities.
- Sharing research with educators, parents, students, and the community-at-large on the impact of promoting SFS on student outcomes,

including academic outcomes.

School-Level Educators

- **Raising awareness of the importance of SFS** with school and LEA leadership and peers.
- **Beginning to embed practices throughout the day** that help build student SFS, potentially along with explicit skills instruction.
- Looking to students for insights, when developmentally appropriate, into how to improve classroom and school environments.

Education and Psychometric Researchers

- Continuing to analyze new and current implementation methods and programs in order to provide feedback to practitioners and policymakers about which may help them best impart SFS.
- Continuing to research current assessment methods to assess validity and reliability, and developing additional assessments that can meet these criteria.

Final Thoughts

The responsibility for developing SFS does not lie with students and parents alone, and pre-K programs are proof that this need not be a bifurcated conversation about whether schools should focus on imparting content knowledge OR skills for success. While more needs to be learned about how to best support students' development of some of these skills from pre-K through secondary school, schools can and should experiment with evidence-based approaches to directly and indirectly do so. But only through a focus on assessment will schools know which skills to work on, which approach(es) to use, and how well they are implementing the approach(es). And only by ensuring that school and educator accountability systems ultimately incorporate information from these assessments will developing SFS be seen as a priority for elementary, middle, and high schools, as it is for high-quality pre-K programs.

INTRODUCTION

A first grade teacher sits in a circle with her students, reading a story. One boy waves his hand in the air, trying to get her attention. Able to wait no longer, he bursts out, "How long until recess?"

A fifth grade teacher assigns a student-chosen research project that will culminate in a written report. One student asks for help selecting a topic the day before the project is due.

A tenth grade teacher asks students to work in small groups to solve a challenging math problem and explain their rationale to the class. In one group, a girl sits off to the side, working toward an answer, but not engaging in her team's discussion.

Self-regulation. Planning and goal-setting. Collaboration and communication. These skills—and others like them, such as persistence, flexibility, and initiative—are critical to academic and social success in school and later in life. However, many students do not fully develop and learn how to use these "skills for success" (SFS).

While parents and communities play an important role in helping children and adolescents develop these skills, so can formal educational experiences. High-quality pre-kindergarten programs for three- and four-year-olds, for example, focus on building early academic skills as well as developing the ability to make friends, show curiosity, pay attention, solve problems, and stick with a task even when it is complicated.

This holistic approach to teaching and learning should not cease when students enter elementary school and later grades. While an extensive body of research shows that the brain develops more rapidly during the early years than at any other time, research also shows that SFS continue to be malleable throughout young adulthood. Yet, unlike pre-kindergarten programs, most K–12 public schools have not embraced a strong role, or in some cases any role, in trying to impart or support these skills. This is due in part to the fact that most states' K–12 standards and requirements overlook SFS, which is in stark contrast to those for state-funded pre-K programs.

In schools that *have* implemented strategies for developing certain skills for success, it is often difficult for outside observers, and even the schools themselves, to articulate their goals or to determine success in reaching them. To some extent, this is because it may be difficult to measure students' SFS, particularly in a standardized, non-time-intensive manner. Discussions of how to assess them often lead to larger debates about whether they should be assessed at all, and, if so, how assessment information should be used.

A holistic approach to teaching and learning should not cease when students enter elementary school and later grades

This paper describes why skills for success matter and what schools can do to bolster them. In addition, it offers recommendations for 1) how to assess whether schools and teachers are successfully supporting SFS; and 2) how policymakers and practitioners can promote a greater focus on SFS in schools, including holding schools and educators accountable for efforts in this area. As high-quality pre-K programs already strive to support the development and assessment of specific skills for success, these recommendations also highlight where promising early learning practices could be incorporated into traditional K–12 environments.

WHAT ARE "SKILLS FOR SUCCESS" AND WHY SHOULD SCHOOLS FOCUS ON THEM?

his paper labels the diverse, habits, mindsets, and non-technical skills that can help individuals be more successful in all aspects and stages of life by what they accomplish: hence, "skills for success." This is not an attempt to define which habits, mindsets, and nontechnical skills are most important, but rather to create a framework for thinking about the various terms and definitions already used to describe them. Perhaps most commonly, they have been referred to as "soft skills," which employers often use to describe the non-technical skills and abilities they desire in employees. In his popular book, How Children Succeed, Paul Tough refers to these habits, mindsets, and skills as "grit, curiosity, and the hidden power of character," arguing that students who demonstrate characteristics like perseverance. inquisitiveness, conscientiousness, optimism, and selfcontrol are best positioned to succeed in life.1

The early learning community commonly groups SFS into two complementary categories: social-emotional skills (socialization, self-confidence, self-regulation) and approaches to learning (curiosity, persistence, attentiveness, cooperation). When K-12 schools focus on these skills, there is less consensus on how they are talked about or which skills should be emphasized. For example, while some leading organizations and researchers in the field do use the term "social-emotional learning," others talk about "academic mindsets," "deeper learning," or "21st century skills." Each of these may focus on specific skills that others do not. For instance, "academic mindsets" encompasses a set of positive beliefs about one's ability and potential to learn despite setbacks, while "21st century skills" include areas like leadership and adaptability to different situations, but neither encompasses both. (See Appendix for more examples of the various terms used to refer to these skills, along with the primary organizations and experts that use them.)

Despite this lack of consistency in terminology and specific skills, the skill areas emphasized by leading groups substantially overlap, with nearly all of them falling into three categories outlined by the National Research Council: 1) cognitive skills (such as critical thinking and non-routine problem solving), 2) interpersonal skills (such as complex communication and social skills), and 3) intrapersonal skills (such as adaptability and self-management).² (See Figure 1 for a visual representation.) It is this broad, diverse set of abilities that the phrase "skills for success" is meant to encompass throughout this paper. Based on our research, however, each unique approach or assessment focuses only on one or two categories, or on subsets of skills within one of these categories, primarily because the skills are so varied that they require tailored approaches and assessments.

For several reasons, building SFS is a role K–12 schools should play, whether education leaders choose to focus on strengthening students' skills in a specific area or are ready to take on a broader set of skills. First, the possession of some of these skills has been shown to benefit academic achievement. Second, certain SFS are increasingly necessary for success in postsecondary and career settings. Finally, these kinds of skills are malleable, and research shows that schools *can* impact them.

The most immediate reason for K–12 schools to try to help develop students' skills in these areas is because many are positively correlated with academic outcomes, such as grades and test scores. A Research Triangle Institute overview of studies on the topic showed that students' motivation, effort, and self-regulated learning the ability to focus one's personal resources toward achieving academic goals—all positively affect academic performance, as do self-sufficiency and academic self-



Figure 1 | Categories of Skills for Success*

* Adapted from the California Office to Reform Education's amended request to the U.S. Department of Education for a waiver from elements of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act, May 1, 2014.



Figure 2 | Sample Hierarchy of Skills for Success

concept, which both reflect confidence and belief in one's ability to succeed academically. The paper's review of research on prosocial behaviors, such as cooperation, found a positive relationship to outcomes such as school completion, as well as peer acceptance, friendships, and occupational status.³ In fact, some researchers have put forth the view that students' social, emotional, and physical needs must be successfully met in order to optimize learning.⁴

For example, because employees may work from different physical or virtual offices, there is a greater need for advanced communication and interpersonal skills.

Another reason for schools to focus on these skills is that a changing economy has transformed workforce expectations, and many students who may have easily found a job a few decades ago find themselves illequipped for the market today. One new expectation is the attainment of a postsecondary credential for most middleincome jobs. To succeed in most post-secondary programs, the ability to prioritize, plan, and employ critical thinking are key. In a recently released paper, New America's workforce education expert Mary Alice McCarthy explains that technological changes and globalization have resulted in new work demands.⁵

Since the 1950s, educational researchers have recognized the need to cultivate a foundation of basic education skills in service of more advanced ones, and this is likely the case with certain SFS as well.⁶ For example, while early learning programs tend to focus on self-regulation since it is developmentally appropriate to do so, this skill is a building block for other skills necessary for later academic and personal success, such as being able to follow directions, or ignore distractions to stay focused on the task at hand.7 Psychologists such as Abraham Maslow explain that humans require basic physiological, safety, belonging, and self-esteem needs to be met before they engage in more academic and creative pursuits.8 While any of these theories could be taken too literally, they provide an interesting framework for thinking about the order in which schools may be most successful in approaching SFS development. (Figure 2 provides one simplified representation of this potential hierarchy.)

Despite the fact that some foundational SFS should ideally be honed early in life, research demonstrates that these skills can still be developed through young adulthood.¹⁰ Indeed, some skills may even be *more* easily learned or solidified at these later ages. Developmental psychologists have found that students become better able to engage in sophisticated analysis, to control their actions, and to recognize the perspectives of others during the transition to adolescence. In fact, a study published in the *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* found through brain imaging that the years around puberty may be a "sensitive period" for developing some of these skills, similar to that in early childhood for language development."

Evidence also exists that schools can play a role in SFS development. Some school-based interventions attempt to directly teach SFS to students. A meta-analysis of school-based, universal social and emotional learning programs for kindergarten through high school students found significantly improved social and emotional skills, attitudes, behavior, and academic performance in participants relative to non-participants for teacher-led programs.¹² Similarly, research has found that educational initiatives that target "academic tenacity" (mindsets and skills that allow students to look beyond short-term concerns to longer-term goals, and to work through challenges to persevere toward these goals) can positively affect students' school experience and achievement months and even years later.¹³ For example, middle school students struggling in math who were taught that working on challenging tasks helps them "get smarter," and who were taught how to apply this lesson to their schoolwork, improved their math performance relative to a comparison group that did not receive this intervention.14

Multiple studies have found that many dimensions of school climate are significantly associated with student academic, behavioral, and social-emotional well-being

Other research has focused on how school and classroom environments, policies, and practices that promote positive teaching and learning conditions can bolster skills for success. These conditions are often referred to as "climate" or "culture" and include areas such as respectful interpersonal relations, physical safety and well-being, equity and fairness, and clear, high learning and behavioral expectations coupled with strong supports.¹⁵ Multiple studies have found that many dimensions of school climate—such as environments that encourage student and staff input, and which are responsive to that input-are significantly associated with student academic, behavioral, and social-emotional well-being.¹⁶ Other factors that affect school climate include availability of supports and resources for students with extra needs, or fair and consistent discipline policies.¹⁷ A positive school climate promotes cooperative learning, group cohesion, respect, and mutual trust, which in turn improve the learning environment.18 A recent study by WestEd found that California middle and high schools that were "beating the odds" on academic achievement compared to schools with similar student demographic profiles had significantly higher "climate indices" based on composite measures of supports and engagement (which included indicators such as simultaneous demonstration of high expectations and caring relationships), and in-school violence, victimization, and substance abuse.¹⁹

Even though many policies and practices for supporting SFS are fairly simple to put in place, convincing educators at every grade level to do so may be challenging. A survey by the Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL) shows most teachers believe socialemotional skills are "teachable" (95 percent), but a notable portion (19 percent) do not believe schools should be teaching them.²⁰

While the survey does not elucidate why teachers feel this way, some possible reasons are that they feel it is the job of families or of earlier grades to instill these skills, or they believe that it is more challenging to develop these skills in older students. Data from CASEL's survey appear to support these latter hypotheses. Over 70 percent of middle and high school teachers believed social-emotional learning (SEL) skills were "a big priority" for preschools and elementary schools, but the proportion of these teachers who think it is important in the school level they teach drops substantially: 63 percent of middle school teachers, and 42 percent of high school teachers.²¹

And while public support for schools imparting a wide array of SFS is generally high, parent resistance to schools focusing on some of these skills also poses a potential barrier.²² Given some of the "indoctrination" fears voiced by opponents of the Common Core State Standards—which are purely content knowledge standards—it is reasonable to assume that some parents may hold concerns about a school attempting to form their children's "character" or "mindsets."²³

Communicating the value of developing these skills across the PreK–12 grade continuum—and sharing the research that supports educators' ability to do so—is essential for any state, local educational agency (LEA), or school that wants to prioritize SFS and academic learning. Additionally, involving teachers, parents, and the community in helping to identify the specific skills that students need and being transparent about the approaches taken to foster them will help head off potential concerns.

Communicating the value of developing skills for success across the PreK-12 continuum is essential

APPROACHES TO BUILDING AND ASSESSING SKILLS FOR SUCCESS

n the following two sections, we outline some of the most commonly used, evidence-based strategies that schools and educators, both within pre-K and K–12, are implementing to try to bolster specific SFS, as well as methods for assessing these efforts. While these are based on a review of existing research and conversations with experts (including researchers, as well as state, LEA, and school leaders), inclusion of programs or assessments does not imply endorsement, nor does it imply that they are the only, or best, resources for developing or assessing SFS. These examples can, however, provide practitioners and policymakers with a basic understanding of the various ways to advance this work, including what approaches may be most often used in different contexts.

Building Students' Skills for Success

The various approaches taken by schools and educators are guided by many criteria, including cost, ease of implementation, and time investment. The most important criteria, however, should be what the school hopes to accomplish in terms of student skills and outcomes, in both the short and long term, and the existence of research to support those goals. It is important for educators to select an approach that is likely to achieve those selected goals, using evidence to help guide those decisions. These approaches are implemented at both the individual classroom and school levels, as explained below.

Classroom Approaches

Within classrooms, both in pre-K and K–12, there are three main types of approaches for imparting the skills necessary for academic, professional, and personal success: 1) a stand-alone approach, where a block of time is set aside for instruction specifically focused on developing skills for success; 2) an embedded approach which attempts to integrate the development of these skills into the typical curriculum and/or routines; and 3) a hybrid approach, which includes both the integration that the embedded approach aims for as well as explicit skills instruction.

Stand-Alone Approaches

The stand-alone approach typically uses a set curriculum and a direct instruction method for a defined number of lessons over a specific timeframe. More robust versions of this approach often include explicit skills instruction, including adult modeling, and opportunities for students to role play and practice the skills being discussed. Standalone programs are usually short-term, time-limited, and often focused on developing "social-emotional" skills (e.g., self-regulation, social problem-solving) and/or "academic mindsets" (e.g., goal planning, how to monitor goal progress, stress management).

While teachers or school counselors may choose to implement a stand-alone classroom approach on their own, school leadership is typically responsible for deciding to incorporate this approach into some or all of its classrooms, and for determining which program to implement.

One example of a stand-alone K–12 approach is the Tools for Getting Along program (TFGA), a 26-lesson, selfcontained curriculum marketed as a tool to help fourth to sixth grade teachers reduce discipline problems by teaching students social problem solving.²⁴ A 2013 What Works Clearinghouse review of research on the approach found that fourth and fifth grade students in Florida randomly selected to participate in TFGA demonstrated statistically significantly greater use of rational problemsolving styles than students who were not, although other targeted areas such as aggression and impulsiveness were not significantly impacted.²⁵

Another increasingly well-known stand-alone K–12 program is a blended learning program from Mindset Works called Brainology.²⁶ The program is focused on changing students' beliefs about intelligence in order to improve their "academic tenacity" and resilience. Brainology targets fifth to ninth graders with online lessons and classroom activities about how the brain develops and learns, how students can grow their intelligence (a "growth mindset"), and strategies to use when encountering academic difficulties.²⁷ Although measuring changes in skills like academic tenacity is difficult, as the Assessment section will discuss further, research has found Brainology to have some positive impact on students' engagement, conduct, and academic performance.²⁸

Embedded Approaches

The embedded approach tends to incorporate efforts to impart skills for success into multiple aspects of the classroom, from academic content to the classroom environment and teachers' interactions with students, in order to create a more consistent focus on these skills that become part of everyday interactions. This approach differs from stand-alone approaches as it allows for students to practice skills in authentic situations throughout the day, as opposed to in more manufactured situations, such as role-playing.

In pre-K, the most widely-used curricula include an emphasis on certain SFS. For example, the HighScope curriculum promotes specific teaching practicesincluding the design of the schedule, the structure of the environment and materials in the room, and how the teacher responds and engages children-to help support children's development of social-emotional skills as well as other SFS.²⁹ This skill building is reinforced through HighScope's "plan-do-review" process, which provides opportunities through play for children to take initiative, set and meet goals, work with others, solve problems, and reflect. The HighScope Perry Preschool longitudinal study shows the best evidence of the curriculum's effectiveness. While the sample size was small, participants in the study experienced both improved positive social behaviors and academic performance. Study participants were followed through the age of 40, and those who experienced the

pre-K program were more likely to graduate from high school and had higher earnings than those who did not.³⁰

Responsive Classroom (RC) is a K–6 program employing an embedded approach that strives to improve students' social skills, such as cooperation, responsibility, and self-control, in addition to traditional academic skills. It provides teachers with guiding principles, and 10 key practices for doing so, such as providing students with structured choices in their work and gathering students for a "morning meeting" each day to share news and interact. RC provides resources and training to help teachers incorporate these practices into their classrooms, which helps improve teachers' SFS in order to improve students' skills. Researchers found that students in third through fifth grade classrooms where RC was fully implemented performed better on math and reading tests than students in classrooms where it was not applied.³¹ Sara Rimm-Kaufman, the lead researcher on the study, believes these results are due in part to improved classroom environments as well as "increased teacher confidence that students are capable of completing work that requires self-control and higher-order thinking." Together, these improvements lay the groundwork for students' mastery of such skills.32 The creators of RC are planning to develop a model for middle schools as well.33

Hybrid Approach

There are obvious pros and cons to both the embedded and stand-alone approaches. A recent research review found factors related to integration into daily school activities to be more beneficial to students' incorporation of SFS, including: when SEL programs were embedded in everyday interactions and school culture, and reflected collaborative efforts among all staff and stakeholders; were attentive to school areas beyond classrooms; and were intentional about continuously monitoring student behavior. The authors concluded that these findings point to the importance of embedding SEL into ongoing interactions and practices in schools.³⁴

However, the same authors point to other research that finds that the most effective programs were those that: 1) included sequenced, active activities that connected to skills in a coordinated way, 2) focused on developing one or more social skills, and 3) explicitly targeted specific skills. Some of these aspects are likely easier to implement with a stand-alone/explicit instruction approach than an embedded one. Given this, a hybrid approach—combining elements from both an embedded and standalone approach—may be the most effective model in many contexts, as it both delivers explicit skills instruction and integrates a focus on these skills throughout classroom and school practices.

A hybrid approach may be the most effective model in many contexts, as it both delivers explicit skills instruction and integrates a focus on these skills throughout classroom and school practices

In some cases, schools formerly using an embedded or stand-alone approach have moved to a hybrid approach. For example, although AppleTree Institute's pre-K programs embedded social-emotional development in its curriculum, Every Child Ready, school leadership recognized that many students had limited foundational skills in these areas and felt it necessary to explicitly teach

them.³⁵ Conversely, those using a stand-alone approach may desire to convert to a hybrid approach if they believe that a more holistic emphasis is necessary. Some standalone approaches used in K-12 have begun to offer resources for creating a more comprehensive experience for students. One example is the aforementioned Brainology, which offers an online professional development course and other tools to help educators learn about the "growth mindset" and how to incorporate it into their daily practices.³⁶ The hybrid approach, while certainly more time and resource intensive, may allow schools to capitalize on the best of each: promoting integration in the classroom and school environment while also directly teaching and reinforcing the specific skills for success they are targeting, particularly where baseline student skill levels are low.

School-Wide Approaches

Classroom approaches may be encouraged by school leadership, or may result from an individual teacher's or group of teachers' focus on promoting SFS. Responsive Classroom started out as a "teacher to teacher" model, where individual teachers within a school decided to use the approach and then got other teachers interested

Figure 3 | Skills For Success Approaches: Levels of School Adoption



in trying it. Those schools look like **picture 1** in Figure 3: embedded approaches to skills happening in some classrooms, but not others. Students in such schools may experience different attitudes and expectations about how they should behave and what skills are important to focus on from each of the teachers with whom they interact.

Any of the classroom approaches discussed earlier stand-alone, embedded, or hybrid—could be used school-wide. And it appears that there is increased K–12 interest in doing so. In the past few years, there has been a dramatic increase in the number of places opting to implement the Responsive Classroom approach schoolor even district-wide, says Lora Hodges, the Executive Director of the Northeast Foundation for Children, RC's developer. This change not only reflects growing interest in developing a more comprehensive set of skills for students, but also a growing understanding that promoting such skills has less impact if it is just happening in a few classrooms, and more impact if it is instituted school-wide, as in **picture 2** of Figure 3.

But even when school leadership requires an approach to be used in every classroom, school-level policies and practices may not enable the conditions and culture necessary to aid in the development of students SFS.

Current school-level policies and practices may not enable the conditions and culture necessary to aid in the development of students' skills for success

EdVisions Schools, a charter network of approximately 50 schools, embraces the idea that changing classroom principles and practices without also embedding them within the larger school (as in **picture 3** of Figure 3) is not sufficient to develop SFS.³⁷ To develop SFS, EdVisions deploys project-based learning, where a student explores a topic of interest for an extended period of time with coaching from his teacher(s), culminating in a final project, such as designing and modeling a house. The goal of this approach is to engage students more deeply in a specific topic of interest and help them develop skills for success.³⁸ But schools or LEAs that try to adopt these sorts of approaches without rethinking broader policies and practices that impact student and staff mindsets and interactions will not fully realize the benefits, EdVisions Executive Director Keven Kroehler says.³⁹ He points to student and teacher autonomy, academic press, an orientation toward mastering goals, and a climate that promotes a sense of belonging as foundational for skill building in areas including engagement, motivation, and optimism for what the future holds. In schools that are serious about changing school-wide culture, these principles and goals are baked into all aspects of the institution, from the cafeteria to extracurricular activities.

In a 2012 literature review, Camille Farrington and her co-authors draw on prior research to support this view: "there is little evidence that working directly on changing students' grit or perseverance would be an effective lever for improving their academic performance. While some students are more likely to persist in tasks or exhibit self-discipline than others, all students are more likely to demonstrate perseverance if the school or classroom context helps them develop positive mindsets and effective learning strategies."⁴⁰

Schools are attempting to build students' skills for success in a variety of ways. To be clear, though, no approach will help students attain SFS if it is not clearly aligned with LEA and school needs and goals, understood and embraced by educators and the larger community, and implemented with fidelity. Additionally, because educator preparation programs have largely ignored strategies for developing SFS, teachers and school leaders will need high-quality in-service opportunities to learn how to do so. Do the schools have the knowledge and resources necessary to implement SFS approaches? How do schools or teachers know whether or not they are meeting goals? Are they, in fact, helping students build and strengthen their skills? The next section explores different types of assessments that can help answer some of these questions.

Assessing Students' Skills for Success

Schools can employ several different types of assessments, which they should already be using in other areas, to guide their work in developing students' skills for success. These include 1) needs assessment, which drives decisions about strategies to reach SFS goals; 2) implementation assessment, which provides feedback on quality of strategy implementation and progress; and 3) outcomes assessment, which provides insight on whether goals are being met.⁴¹

Figure 4 | System of Continuous Improvement

Data from needs, implementation, and outcome assessments may be useful on their own, but are most valuable when used together to create a system to drive continuous improvement.



Data from needs assessments, implementation assessments, and outcome assessments may be useful on their own, but they are most valuable when used together to create a system to drive continuous improvement.

CASEL's rubric on school "sustainability factors" outlines this continuous improvement process, by defining an ideal level of functioning as one where the school "steering committee, including principal, is collecting both baseline and follow-up data on implementation practices (including teacher performance), student [socialemotional learning (SEL)] competency, and impact of SEL on school climate. Data is [sic] used to make appropriate adaptations to programming and to ensure fidelity to core elements of program. School shares all evaluation efforts with key school stakeholders and clearly documents lessons learned."⁴²

Educators and state- and district-level policymakers striving to assess these skills should ensure assessment approaches align with their goals and theory of action. More details on common or forward-thinking assessment strategies are outlined in the discussion below to help inform these decisions.

Needs assessment

The wide range of skills for success, and school and classroom conditions for promoting those skills, are likely too much for schools to tackle all at once. There is a lack of evidence to date for focusing directly on building certain skills, such as generosity, at all. This means that leaders within pre-K programs, schools, LEAs, and even states must decide where initial and ongoing efforts to build SFS should focus and what types of resources and approaches may best support those efforts. A *needs assessment* can help them do so.

In determining which SFS to prioritize, and which strategies to employ to meet those priorities, policymakers and practitioners must consider current student skill levels and how well the efforts already in place are supporting the development of these skills. Policymakers and practitioners must also reflect on the existing knowledge, skills, and resources in the schools and the new resources and training they will need to successfully impart these skills. In selecting and implementing goals, standards, instructional methods and/or assessments for a specified set of skills, policymakers and practitioners should choose those that are developmentally appropriate.⁴³

A needs assessment is likely to be most useful if it includes meaningful input from multiple stakeholders, including students, parents, educators, and the community. Additionally, while states or LEAs may have a multitude of SFS standards for a given grade span, for long-term success it may be wise to begin with a few of the most important, foundational skills in order to make the approach more palatable to educators, and to increase the likelihood of success.⁴⁴

Implementation Assessment

After determining a strategy for conveying selected skills for success, educational leaders must then put that plan into action. As they do so, they need to understand how well schools and educators are implementing that strategy, and the ongoing impact of those strategies. Despite a historical focus on imparting a more comprehensive set of skills for success, pre-K programs still conduct ongoing assessments of implementation since the strategy is only as good as how well it is carried out. Regularly assessing progress, and making changes as appropriate, is important to the success of any new effort in pre-K or K–12. Several *implementation assessment* approaches are explored below.

School/Program Level Implementation Assessment

Most assessment tools in this area are designed to measure aspects of school climate. Surveys are commonly used to assess aspects of a school's atmosphere that may impact SFS. The Center for Great Teachers and Leaders (GTL Center) at the American Institutes for Research identified at least 13 such surveys that display publicly-available evidence of being valid and reliable assessments of school climate.45 One of these is the National School Climate Center's Comprehensive School Climate Inventory (CSCI). The survey is used to assess not only students' perceptions of a school's strengths and areas for improvement, but parents' and school personnel's perceptions as well.46 CSCI measures 10 dimensions for students and parents, and 12 for staff, in four primary areas: school safety, interpersonal relationships, teaching and learning, and institutional environment.⁴⁷ It offers two versions of the student survey for different developmental levels (grades 3-5 and grades 6-12). While these types of surveys are unable to directly measure whether students' SFS are improving, they can help measure whether stakeholders are perceiving changes in behaviors as well as whether

the enabling conditions for SFS development are in place. These results can be used to inform a needs assessment or an assessment of implementation, depending on where the school or LEA is in the assessment cycle.

School climate assessments can also be used to provide feedback to school leaders about areas of strength and growth within their own professional practice

Another climate measurement tool specific to primary schools is High/Scope's Ready School Assessment (RSA), which assists leadership teams in gauging the school's ability to meet the needs of entering kindergartners, developing improvement plans to better meet the needs of those students, and measuring progress over time.48 To meet these needs, the RSA includes a questionnaire as well as evidence collection in eight areas including: 1) leadership's prioritization of positive school climate; 2) alignment and coordination between pre-K and elementary school; 3) support for teachers; 4) engaging, warm, and inviting learning environment; 5) teaching in ways that children learn best; 6) building family, school, and community connections; 7) respecting diversity; and 8) school staff engagement in ongoing improvement based on information about classroom experiences, school practices, and children's progress. For the tool to be most effective, High/Scope recommends including multiple perspectives on the readiness assessment team, including teachers, principals, parents, and staff from feeder pre-K programs.

School climate assessments can also be used to provide feedback to principals and other leadership team members about areas of strength and growth within their own professional practice in areas that impact school climate. One example would be clearly communicating expectations for students and staff and providing supports to help meet those expectations.⁴⁹

Teacher-Level Implementation Assessment

Because teachers play a leading role in helping students develop SFS, some LEAs, schools, and pre-K programs are also trying to assess teacher practice as a way to inform and drive implementation of approaches toward student acquisition of these skills. Observations of teachers in action can provide insight into how well they are incorporating a school's chosen approaches for bolstering students' skills for success. They can also provide a picture of the classroom climate, such as how supportive the teacher is, how she manages students' behavior, whether she challenges students, as well as whether students are encouraged to share and debate their ideas, in a respectful way. One teacher observation tool is the Classroom Assessment Scoring System (CLASS), which was first developed for pre-K, but now has developmentally-appropriate versions for each grade span through 12th grade. In pre-K and K–3, CLASS measures teacher-student interactions on three dimensions: emotional support, classroom organization, and instructional support (see Figure 5). For grades four through twelve, student engagement is included as an additional dimension.

Figure 5 | CLASS Dimensions of Teacher-Student Interactions

Pre-K	and	K-3
-------	-----	-----

Emotional Support	Classroom Organization	Instructional Support
Positive climate	Behavior management	Concept development
Negative climate	Productivity	Quality of feedback
Teacher sensitivity	Instructional learning formats	Language modeling
Regard for student perspectives		

Upper Elementary and Secondary Grades

Emotional Support	l Support Classroom Organization Instructional Support		Student engagement	
Positive climate	Behavior management	Instructional learning formats	Active engagement	
Teacher sensitivity	Productivity	Content understanding		
Regard for student perspectives	*Negative climate	Analysis and inquiry		
		Quality of feedback		
		Instructional dialogue		

*Note that for upper elementary and secondary grades, CLASS measures "negative climate" under classroom organization instead of emotional support. Based on an analysis conducted by CLASS developers, negative climate was more closely aligned with the classroom organization domain than with emotional support for these grade levels. This could be because of an association between behavior management and negative climate in older students' classrooms.⁵⁰ Schools could use teacher observation frameworks to provide feedback about areas where teachers are performing well or could improve in implementing skills for success practices

Based on a growing body of research showing that the quality of teacher-child interactions matters a lot, CLASS is being increasingly used as a measure of pre-K program quality. In fact, several states require or suggest its use for monitoring state-funded pre-K programs and the federal government requires its use as a measure for monitoring Head Start programs. The developers of CLASS recommend that outside observers rate teachers because it generates more objective feedback. However, this does not always occur due to financial or scaling constraints, potentially diminishing the value of the measure.⁵¹

Some elements of teacher observation frameworks are more directly related to assessing approaches and practices focused on developing conditions and skills for student success than others. The GTL Center at the American Institutes of Research recently released a brief outlining 10 teacher practices that research indicates help promote students' SFS.⁵² The GTL Center suggested that schools could use teacher observation frameworks, already included as a part of many schools' teacher evaluation systems, to provide feedback about areas where teachers are performing well or could improve in implementing SFS practices into their classrooms. After comparing these 10 practices with three widelyused observation frameworks-CLASS, Danielson, and Marzano-they concluded that the "instructional practices that already are used to evaluate teachers are similar to the instructional strategies used to promote student social, emotional, and cognitive development." However, these teacher observation frameworks sometimes include general wording, which allows for broad interpretation of what strategies may meet each criterion. In order for these frameworks to be tools that schools or LEAs can employ to assess implementation of SFS approaches, they will likely have to explicitly communicate which practices and approaches are expected to successfully meet each of the framework's criteria.

Most assessments of teacher practice in K–12 schools are performed by the school leader or a fellow district teacher, as compared to an outside observer, as is commonly found in pre-K. Some systems also require or encourage teachers to reflect on their own practice and provide self-ratings as well. However, there is another approach to assessing teacher practice related to imparting SFS, that is becoming more frequently used in K–12 but is not practical with the youngest students: surveys of students' perceptions of classroom environments and experiences.

TRIPOD is one of the most researched and well-known surveys of students focused on assessing individual classrooms' environments and practices. Different versions are available for grades K-2, 3-5/6, and 6-12 that take into account students' developmental levels. According to The Tripod Project, "surveys include items that are mainly observational (allowing students to record what they experience), rather than judgmental (asking students what they like and dislike)." For example, one question for secondary students asks them to rate the following statement on a range from "totally true" to "totally untrue": "In this class, my teacher accepts nothing less than our full effort."53 Data are also collected on how students judge their own attitudes, behaviors and effort, as well as whether students feel safe, welcome, and satisfied with their progress in that classroom. Survey results can then be used in comparison with benchmarks from TRIPOD's database to inform implementation and improvement: from where to focus teachers' development to schools' understanding of where SFS efforts are having an impact and where additional work may be needed.54 The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation's "Measures of Effective Teaching" study previously found that integrating TRIPOD survey results into teacher evaluation systems at an equal proportion to teacher observations and teacher impact on student learning increased validity and reliability.55 Bellwether's report, "Lessons from the Field," further discusses how student surveys can be used for teacher evaluation and development. It also highlights the fact that 12 states currently require or allow for their use in this way.56

The University of Chicago has also been developing a survey assessment that attempts to measure sixth to twelfth grade students' mindsets and attitudes in addition to teacher support, classroom environment, and engagement in content, with the goal of teasing out how much of certain student behaviors are influenced by classroom context. Expected to be available at the end of 2014, the survey will be available free of charge in an effort to increase the availability of common measures across the field.⁵⁷

Outcomes Assessment

While data collection and reflection are critical for gauging impact and improving practice, the abstract nature of many SFS means that they do not easily lend themselves to measurement. For example, while it is easy to assess whether a student knows her multiplication tables, it is much more difficult to quantify her level of "grit." But in recent years, the number of promising methods for assessing these skills in schools in viable ways has increased, as outlined below.

School/Program-Level Outcomes

To more directly assess outcomes related to skills for success approaches, some LEAs and schools track existing data, such as disciplinary actions and attendance, often in conjunction with school climate surveys. Such approaches tend to look for trends over time, and tend to be rough, indirect tools for measuring whether more nuanced skills and habits for success are being developed. But they can provide concrete information that helps schools understand whether their approaches are having an impact in the short-term.

In recent years, the number of promising methods for assessing skills for success in viable ways has increased

Additionally, since it is difficult for schools to promote SFS in schools if students are not attending class, or are being disciplined with out-of-school suspensions, and so forth, these data can help schools determine where they may need to revisit policies and practices to ensure that students are in school and engaged, a necessary foundation for being successful in this work. Taking a longer-term view of their SFS strategies, some schools also review trends in school-wide grades, standardized state assessment scores, and on-time grade progression.

Student-Level Outcomes

Schools use many of these same outcomes measures (e.g., discipline referrals) to track individual student progress on SFS. But again, these are proxy measures for the more habits, mindsets, and non-technical skills and habits schools are trying to impart. And, generally, K–12 schools have not incorporated other types of assessments to try to more directly measure individual students' skills in these areas, except for a few—such as the Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function (BRIEF)—which are typically administered only to children who appear to be demonstrating "atypical" development or behaviors that may require intervention.⁵⁸ However, as schools' focus on SFS has grown, so have the approaches they are experimenting with to assess these skills.

By contrast, individual child assessment in highquality pre-K programs measures several different skills for success. One thing to keep in mind is that young children are unable to read and respond to test questions independently, so assessment of math and literacy looks different than it does for older students. Assessors, most often a child's teacher, typically administer academic assessments one-on-one and assessment of certain SFS, such as persistence or problem-solving, through observation.

In other domains, however, approaches used in pre-K have more in common with K–12 social-emotional assessment tools. These tools fall into two buckets (observational ratings and work product-based) and can be conducted by various individuals (teachers, other trained assessors, parents, or sometimes even the students themselves). Some of these methods are appropriate across the span from PreK–12th grade while others may work best for younger children or for older groups of students. Discussed below are some of the assessments currently used to measure individual students' development of skills for long-term success.

Assessments Based On Observational Ratings

Every day, teachers conduct observations of their students working, playing, and interacting with other students. Teachers may formally look for and document specific skills or behaviors students may demonstrate during certain activities. Teachers may also informally note how students engage with one another or respond to tasks during the day. For instance, a teacher might notice that while Juan is usually the first one to turn in an assessment, he rarely checks his work. Typically, students are unaware that teachers are making these observations.

Teaching Strategies GOLD is one observational assessment tool commonly used from birth through kindergarten in several states. It is intended to help teachers understand children's progress over the course of the year on 38 objectives within 10 areas of development and learning, including social-emotional and cognitive development. Teachers observe how children, for example, show flexibility in thinking, balance the needs of self and others, and respond to emotional cues. Teachers record their observations throughout the school year and rate children based on research-supported expectations of child development. These ratings provide formative information to teachers and parents about what their children know and are able to do. Teaching Strategies GOLD is currently being piloted for use through the third grade.59

Individual child assessment in highquality pre-K programs measures several different skills for success

While still rare, some K-12 schools are using observational approaches to assess student skills for success in later grades as well. For example, KIPP charter schools recently piloted a "Character Growth Card" in a handful of its middle schools in New York City.⁶⁰ Teachers are expected to use the growth card to review each student's progress in demonstrating seven character strengths that research by Angela Duckworth, Chris Peterson, and Martin Seligman has highlighted as important for academic and lifelong success: zest, grit, self-control, optimism, curiosity, gratitude, and social intelligence.⁶¹ Character Growth Card reviews are based on teachers' overall interactions with students and are produced quarterly, to provide ongoing feedback on students' performance.⁶² The Character Growth Card is not used to determine whether a student will be promoted to the next grade, but it is designed to facilitate a dialogue among students, teachers, and parents around these seven character strengths. In addition to

assessing student skills in these areas, KIPP New York schools are undertaking efforts to educate students about these SFS and reward students who exhibit them. For instance, teachers create "dual purpose" history or literature lessons where they discuss character strengths exhibited by the people or characters involved. The KIPP schools also work to establish an environment where students praise their peers for exhibiting character strengths.⁶³

The Social Skills Improvement System (SSIS) is a multi-component PreK-12 program that offers both a performance screening tool—executed similarly to KIPP's Character Growth Card-as well as a more in-depth assessment.⁶⁴ About a month into the school year, teachers can use the screening tool's rubric to quickly categorize each student's social skills into one of five categories based on performance and behaviors exhibited. This helps pinpoint certain skills for teachers and students to focus on throughout the year.⁶⁵ After a class-wide program to develop students' prosocial skills-such as SSIS' own, which focuses on the 10 social skills that a sample of teachers rated most important⁶⁶ -teachers are expected to administer the screener again to gauge progress. For students who continue to struggle with certain skills, the more in-depth SSIS rating system assessment provides forms for the teacher, student (if age eight or older), and even the student's parent to complete. The rating system is used to more directly and thoroughly measure three areas of student function (social skills, competing problem behaviors, and academic competence) on 14 more specific dimensions, based on developmental research, to help teachers and parents determine which further interventions are necessary, if any.67

As with pre-K, K–12 observation-based student SFS assessment tools are intended to be used formatively to provide information to teachers, parents, and students about how students are performing on critical areas, and provide insight on areas that still need to be developed.

Assessments Based on Student Work

Other assessments combine observations with samples of student work in an attempt to produce a more holistic assessment of students skills for success.

SFS assessment using work examples is rare, but it

is more common in K-12 schools than in pre-K. One example of an LEA that is trying to assess certain SFS via work examples is Farmington School District in Connecticut. With its "Spotlight Assessments," Farmington focuses on evaluating one of the specific skills the district expects its students to demonstrate by graduation in each grade level. These are measured through teacher-scored performance on a variety of measurements geared toward the skill, such as performance tasks, essays, projects, and computer-based assessments. A report on what percentage of students at each grade level show mastery of the "spotlighted" skill is given to the community each year, through a Board of Education "Results and Outcomes" booklet and a Town Annual Report. Community members can therefore help monitor how students are developing their critical thinking, problem solving, communication and collaboration, self-direction and resourcefulness.68

Some schools and LEAs use reviews of portfolios or presentations of student work to gauge students' SFS, particularly at the high school level.⁶⁹ These typically focus on a particular skill or set of skills in-depth, primarily those within the "cognitive" and "interpersonal" domains, as opposed to those in the intrapersonal domain.⁷⁰ As with other types of assessments scored by teachers, there are challenges with scoring reliability even when clear scoring rubrics are available. This is less concerning when the assessments are used in a formative manner than when they are used to make high-stakes decisions, such as whether a student can progress to the next grade.

As with pre-K, K-12 observationbased SFS assessment tools are intended to be used formatively to provide information to teachers, parents, and students about how students are performing on critical areas

For 10th grade, Farmington is using the College & Work Readiness Assessment (CWRA), a performance task-based assessment used by approximately 280 high schools nationwide, and beginning to be implemented in middle schools in 2014–15.71 While CWRA questions are embedded within specific subject areas, they are designed not to measure core subject content knowledge, but critical thinking, analytic reasoning, problem solving, and written communication.⁷² CWRA's developer recommends the use of the assessment for understanding what skills students in grades in the lower part of the grade span need to develop before moving on to the next grade span, and for evaluating students at the end of the grade span to see whether schools met their goals.73 Results are made available to students for measures such as "analysis and problem-solving," "writing effectiveness," and "critical reading and evaluation."74 In addition to providing students with feedback on how they compare to others taking the CWRA, this assessment is sometimes shared across grade levels so educators can make decisions about skills to focus on. Some schools, such as those in Virginia Beach City Public Schools, are beginning to include CWRA scores on students' transcripts as well.

The Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for College and Careers (PARCC), one of the consortia of states developing evaluations aligned with Common Core State Standards (CCSS), has also been developing some performance task-based measurements that get at specific SFS. In addition to its "end of year" CCSS assessment, PARCC is creating a performance-based evaluation that will be administered three-quarters of the way through the school year, and provide formative feedback to teachers and schools about students' reasoning and modeling skills, which are based in part on critical thinking, problem solving, and perseverance. However, as PARCC'S performance-based assessment attempts to evaluate these skills through math- and English Language Arts (ELA)specific content questions, the measurement of students' skills may not be generalizable beyond these content areas.

In 2015–16, schools using the PARCC CCSS assessment will have the option to adopt its "Speaking and Listening" formative assessments. Teachers administer the evaluation and score it using rubrics. The speaking portion will ask students to research a topic of their choice and present their findings to the class. For the listening portion, a student is exposed to stimuli and then expected to provide thoughts and ask questions. These formative assessments are what Doug Sovde, Director of Content and Instructional Supports at PARCC, referred to as "content agnostic," as teachers can bring in disciplines other than ELA and math. These assessments can be taken multiple times per year so that teachers and students can assess improvement on these communication and collaboration skills.

EdLeader21 is also in the process of creating a bank of performance tasks for use by schools and LEAs. It is hoping to launch a project where 40 to 50 LEAs agree to a common set of performance tasks so they can compare outcomes.75 If benchmarking student SFS is a key goal, high schools can also opt to participate in the OECD Test for Schools, piloted in 2013, in which a sample of students is tested in math, reading, science and given a survey that asks about home background, which "assesses how students feel about their learning environment and the degree to they feel engaged in and motivated by their coursework and connected to their teachers."⁷⁶ Participating schools receive a report detailing performance results compared to other schools that took the test, as well as strategies from across the country, and the world, that can help address areas of weakness.77

One word of caution: many work or task-based assessments attempt to get at "higher-order" skills for success, such as critical thinking. Research finds that some skills, like critical thinking, may not be easily transferred from one context to another, which makes them difficult to reliably assess in a summative way at the student level, unless they are measured in multiple contexts or if educators actively teach students how to transfer these skills to multiple situations.⁷⁸

Future Directions for Assessing Student Skills for Success

"Assessment may be intrusive or not. In other words, students may know that they are being assessed or it may be seamless with instruction—perhaps perceived by the students as nothing more than a chance to practice what they have learned,"—Ken Kay, of EdLeader21.⁷⁹

As with most assessments, when a student, or adult for that matter, recognizes he is being assessed, he may behave differently.⁸⁰ Computer game-based evaluations, however, embed "invisible" assessment as part of the game. "By integrating assessment directly into the game environment, we eliminate observer effects and test anxiety; we can then evaluate intangibles such as creativity and problem solving," note the authors of *Social Skills Assessment Through Games: The New Best Practice.*⁸¹ Students think they are merely playing a computer game when they are actually being measured for how they respond to social situations, for example. For the teacher, digital games have the potential to provide useful assessment data on a set of skills that is typically difficult to measure.

One such game-based assessment is Zoo U, developed by 3C Institute with funding from the U.S. Department of Education's Institute of Educational Sciences (IES).⁸² Zoo U measures third and fourth graders in six social skill areas: emotional regulation, impulse control, communication, empathy, cooperation, and social initiation. During the game, students use a mouse to navigate a variety of social situations, such as a confrontation with a bully in the hallway or an assignment where they work with a classmate to solve a problem. The Zoo U assessment is currently being used in hundreds of classrooms across the United States and abroad, according to game developer Melissa DeRosier. She posits that computer games have the potential to make social skills assessment more affordable and less time intensive while providing more accurate and usable results for teachers and schools.⁸³ Based on 3C Institute research, Zoo U assessment correlates well with teacher reports on the social skills of the same students.⁸⁴

Also with a grant from IES, researcher Clark McKown has created a web-based tool, SELweb, to assess four dimensions of K-3rd grade students' social emotional development: emotional recognition, perspective taking, social problem solving, and self-control. Students take the assessment independently on a computer. For emotional recognition, for example, students are presented with a series of faces with different expressions and are asked to indicate what each person is feeling. For perspective taking, students watch narrated vignettes and try to infer the speakers' intentions. SELweb has been field- tested in Illinois with more than 4,000 students. "Because of the state's SEL standards," said McKown, "there was interest from several schools to have a tool to help them make decisions." The assessment also includes a peer nomination component. For the peer nomination, students see a screen with each of their classmate's names and pictures. They respond to several questions about their classmates, such as who they most like to spend time with. The data collected are used to create a social network map of the class and can help teachers recognize cliques and socially isolated children, and make decisions about the best seating arrangements or groups. SELweb is being rolled out across the country to develop national norms.85

Students may know when they are being assessed or it may be seamless with instruction—perhaps perceived as nothing more than a chance to practice what they have learned

USING ASSESSMENTS FOR IMPROVEMENT AND ACCOUNTABILITY IN SCHOOLS

The primary uses of SFS assessments are to 1) obtain a snapshot of students' skills and school and educator efforts to develop them; 2) measure where improvements have been made and where opportunities to improve still exist; and 3) promote accountability for improvement.

Following are some considerations and examples that can help guide policymakers' and practitioners' efforts in the latter two areas. Above all, measurement tools must only be used for the purpose(s) for which they were designed. For example, screening tools should be used to identify whether a child is at risk for or exhibiting signs of developmental delays, and not to measure a child's skill level in a specific area. Another general consideration is developing a realistic understanding of the necessary time and resource commitment to acquire the level and quality of information desired, and attempting to find a satisfactory balance between the two.

Using Assessments for Improvement

K-12 assessments of SFS have primarily been used at the school or classroom level, in order to identify and drive the improvement of environments and practices. Data from needs assessments can help determine which approach(es) to take to bolster students' SFS. But before that strategy is rolled out, education leaders at the federal, state, and local levels must ensure that educators have the skills and resources necessary to do the work in order to ensure fidelity to the approach.⁸⁶ Realistically, the majority of educators will need substantial training and coaching on how to best promote skills for success in their classrooms and schools: in a recent survey of educators, less than half of respondents believed that their teacher training adequately prepared them to engage and motivate students.87

The same is true for using assessments. LEAs and schools must determine whether expertise exists to carry out assessments in an accurate and consistent way. They also must ensure that educators have the skills to use assessment data to identify and address areas of weakness identified at the student, educator, and school level, and if not, determine a plan for developing or accessing that expertise. Given evidence that most educator preparation programs are not sufficiently preparing students to interpret results from assessments that are already commonly administered in schools, it is likely that substantial training will be necessary.⁸⁸

The majority of educators will need substantial training and coaching on how to best promote skills for success in their classrooms and schools

There is a variety of resources available to help schools in these efforts. For example, the University of Virginia's Center for the Advanced Study of Teaching and Learning (CASTL) has developed a suite of resources: the aforementioned CLASS can help identify areas for improvement, while My Teaching Partner is a targeted coaching model that provides insight on how to improve emotional support, instructional support, and classroom organization. Together, these resources focus on specific ways for teachers to build positive relationships and teach effectively, like being responsive to students' needs and setting clear expectations.⁸⁹ And while some selfassessments⁹⁰ of teaching practices and competencies that promote skills for success exist, assessment research indicates that "the skills that engender competence in a particular domain are often the very same skills necessary to evaluate competence in that domain." That is, people do not accurately rate themselves on dimensions in which they are lacking, or for which others in their immediate context are lacking.⁹¹

Using Assessments for Accountability

To date, skills for success assessment data have not typically been shared with entities that would encourage or require schools or educators to take specific actions (including improvement) based on the results. As a result, much of what we know of SFS accountability "best practices" comes from assessment research rather than examples in the field, leaving many questions unanswered.

In terms of validity and reliability, assessment ratings are only as good as the tool being used and the skills of the rater. Policymakers and practitioners, therefore, should be confident about these before deciding to use a specific tool for accountability purposes. Some types of ratings are less accurate, and should not be used for accountability purposes at all. For example, self-assessments by teachers may be useful to promote self-reflection and growth, but not to determine teachers' actual performance in cultivating student SFS. And, according to Camille Farrington, "student surveys are not useful for diagnosing individual students' skill development if you want them to be honest and objective-although they can be useful in the aggregate for understanding students' perspectives."92 Only summative assessment tools that have been empirically validated should be used for formal "evaluation" of student skills or educators'/schools' ability to impart them. Ideally, student assessments used for accountability purposes should be benchmarked to a LEA, state, or national norm, rather than allowing for relative comparisons of students within classrooms or individual schools.

But even if a particular assessment is valid and reliable, does it make sense to use it to hold students accountable for developing the associated SFS or to hold teachers and/or schools accountable for imparting them? And if so, what is a smart approach to doing so?

While the enactment of the No Child Left Behind (NCLB) federal policy in 2001 increased external accountability of K–12 schools, schools were only held accountable for student performance on statewide

academic proficiency tests in math and reading/ English language arts. Most recently, under optional waivers from NCLB, states have increased flexibility to design their own accountability systems, but are still required to hold schools accountable for student achievement in at least math and reading. While states have made few efforts to incorporate skills for success into these new K-12 accountability systems to date, educators and policymakers who are unhappy with current school accountability systems are promoting doing so. For example, in a report targeted to a policy audience, Stanford professors David Conley and Linda Darling-Hammond described how the inclusion of measures of SFS in accountability systems will provide a more comprehensive view of the value that schools are providing.93 The Ounce of Prevention Fund has also called for expanding the range of child outcomes included in education accountability systems, from early childhood through 12th grade, to incorporate the measurement of SFS.94

But even if a particular assessment is valid and reliable, does it make sense to use it to hold students accountable for developing the associated SFS or to hold teachers and/or schools accountable for imparting them?

Before deciding if and how to hold schools accountable for helping students develop these skills, policymakers must consider several important questions. Current debate about accountability systems based on academic outcomes reflects ongoing tension between a desire for equity-that accountability systems must ensure that schools help all students achieve high standards and successful outcomes-and a desire for fairness-that accountability systems must take into account the fact that schools serve students who arrive at different levels and with varying needs. Parallel to this debate is the question of whether accountability for SFS should take into account schools' progress in this area as opposed to their raw performance. Should the schools' stage of implementation be taken into account? And if so, how could it be done in a way that ensures all schools meet the same ultimate goals within a reasonable period of time?

If these skills and positive learning environments are not treated as important initiatives that are being monitored by outside stakeholders, educators push them to the side to focus on those areas that school and educator accountability systems are based on

Despite these questions, because school and classroom environments and practices can play such an important role in aiding development of many types of SFS, it is difficult to argue that these should be completely overlooked in school and educator accountability systems. In fact, American Institutes for Research has found that valid and reliable surveys can be useful in assessing the degree to which principals have improved school climate as one of several outcomes measured in school leader performance evaluations.⁹⁵

Additionally, the evidence from K–12 SFS implementation to date indicates that if these skills and positive learning environments are *not* treated as important initiatives that are being monitored by outside stakeholders, educators push them to the side to focus on those areas that school and educator accountability systems *are* based on (e.g., standardized tests).⁹⁶ Including certain skills for success in accountability systems could encourage schools not currently making them a priority, especially those serving low-income and minority students, to do so.

Pre-K programs provide several examples of outside monitoring and accountability related to classroom climates that promote student SFS. Tools, such as CLASS discussed earlier, are used by states to monitor the quality of publicly funded pre-K programs. One of the ways these kinds of tools measure climate is through observing the language used and demeanor demonstrated by classroom teachers. For example, do teachers accept and respect student opinions during class discussions?

There has been some movement toward inserting a

focus on skills for success into K-12 school and educator accountability systems. For example, Colorado's principal evaluation rubric requires evidence of "school cultural and equity leadership," including elements such as creating an inclusive and collaborative climate, and demonstrating a commitment to promoting a comprehensive set of student SFS.97 Even where states are not moving in this area, some LEAs are. For example, Farmington Public Schools' teacher observation rubric ensures that teachers are evaluated on their classroom approach to and integration of district-selected student SFS. And the most well-known accountability system attempting to incorporate SFS is a consortium of seven large LEAs in California, referred to as the California Office to Reform Education, or CORE. The only group of LEAs to win a U.S. Department of Education waiver from certain No Child Left Behind requirements, CORE has proposed incorporating social-emotional and school climate domains as key factors in its accountability and improvement ratings, in addition to academic outcomes. A school that performs poorly on the overall measure will be paired with a higher-performing school to focus on areas for improvement. However, there are minimal external incentives for schools to improve (e.g., consequences for a lack of progress) or focused resources to aid them in doing so. Without these, research on accountability policies indicates that CORE's chosen strategy is unlikely to be effective in driving improvements in school performance.98

The most viable way to ensure a focus on these skills may be to find middle ground between minimal accountability and "high-stakes" accountability, using evaluative systems primarily focused on making school performance in areas related to SFS transparent to the public. However, this type of accountability will not be strong enough if not executed in a very intentional way. For example, a recently enacted California K-12 school finance law requires LEAs to engage with parents, educators, employees, and the community to develop an annual Local Control and Accountability Plan (LCAP) to outline how they intend to meet eight state prioritieswhich include school climate, pupil engagement, and parental involvement-and district goals in these areas.99 Each plan describes the school district's overall vision for students and annual goals, and the specific actions it will take to achieve the vision and goals.

One issue with the LCAP model is that, to some extent,

it requires parents and community members to be aware that certain skills and habits are important for their children's success and hence, areas they should be pushing for schools to develop. As a result, some LEAs' LCAPs are making these skills a priority and adopting more innovative practices. Berkeley Public Schools (BPS) is creating a social-emotional curriculum for grades K-6 which will focus on areas such as self-management, decision-making, and relationship skills, and have set growth goals for the percentage of students with an average score on the social-emotional domains section of their report card.¹⁰⁰ However, other LEAs' LCAPs reflect a narrower focus and the use of more traditional methods: some of Los Angeles Unified School District's (LAUSD) primary "climate" goals are to reduce suspensions and chronic absenteeism by adding academic and socialemotional counselors and other support personnel.¹⁰¹ The traditional strategies selected by LAUSD may actually be more beneficial to its students than the strategies selected by BPS. But they also raise the question of whether a system that relies on community knowledge of these skills' importance may unintentionally reproduce parental privilege or lack thereof in its plans for developing them. For example, media outlets, such as the New York Times, cover new research on evidencebased approaches to develop certain SFS, however, such information may be less accessible for parents, especially low-income parents, who do not read or may not have access to these sources.

Factors such as classroom environment and relationships with specific teachers and peers can impact individual students' demonstration of SFS. This means that a student who performs well on a certain skill in one classroom or context may not do so in another

Additionally, while the expectation is that providing annual benchmarks will assist LEAs and the community to monitor the progress of the plan, the format and language used in the LCAPs themselves are currently not very parent- and consumer-friendly. They include, for instance, multiple pages of tables and the use of terms like "Individual Culmination Plan." There are also few details about what format monitoring reports will take or how they will be communicated to the community. As a result, it is difficult to imagine that LCAPs in their current incarnation are a sufficient middle-ground accountability solution. Despite the system growing out of a theory of action based on meaningful public input and transparency, the design and execution of the system seems unlikely to achieve either of these goals. Thus, policymakers must think carefully about how to inform the design of implementation as well.

Thinking about Accountability for Students

Factors such as classroom environment and relationships with specific teachers and peers can impact individual students' demonstration of SFS.¹⁰² This means that a student who performs well on a certain skill in one classroom or context may not do so in another. While the importance of context is another reason to attempt to measure classroom and school climate, it is also a reason to be cautious about attempting to measure individual students' SFS with precision for accountability purposes. Additionally some educators voice concerns about assessing SFS in a way that "counts" for students may diminish students' implicit motivation for trying to attain them.¹⁰³

But one could imagine report cards for all students reflecting performance on specific skills for success—similar to those that KIPP New York has implemented, or to the progress reports that youngest children receive—as a helpful way to communicate the importance of these skills to students, families, and educators. Additionally, figuring out ways to measure "growth" in addition to raw skill levels may actually help to *increase* student motivation.

GOVERNANCE: ROLES FOR FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL ENTITIES

S chools and classrooms are where the lessons take place that directly influence students' mindsets, habits, and skills for success. But national, state, and local entities can and often do play a role in influencing those practices. Developing age-appropriate SFS is currently a much greater and more widespread focus among pre-K programs than for K–12 schools. As outlined below, this is in part a result of federal and state efforts to ensure that these skills are included in pre-K programs, efforts that are not as common for K–12 schools.

Federal Government

Flagship federal programs that include a robust focus on skills for success exist in early education, but not at the K–12 level. Take Head Start: the federal government develops the program quality standards, the framework for program content and practices, provides funding, and monitors program quality. With \$8.6 billion in current funding, Head Start, the country's largest pre-K program, serves about one million children in all 50 states and Washington, D.C. Head Start's framework has a focus on SFS, including developing "a child's ability to regulate attention and behavior and in turn, develop greater social, emotional, and cognitive competence."¹⁰⁴

However, when there have been federal incentives or investments in building skills for success in K–12, they have historically been optional and disconnected from schools' primary work of teaching and learning. For example, instead of being an integral part of primary elementary and secondary education policies like the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA), federal efforts have mostly been through small—and in some cases, now defunct¹⁰⁵—programs.

For example, the U.S. Department of Education recently awarded about \$40 million in School Climate Transformation grants to LEAs and states to implement evidence-based approaches for improving behavioral outcomes and learning conditions for students.¹⁰⁶ This initiative, which funds only 71 of the roughly 14,000 LEAs nationwide, in 12 states, attempts to help schools develop consistent rules, consequences, and reinforcement of appropriate behavior for all students, along with more targeted supports for students exhibiting or at risk of troubling behavior.¹⁰⁷ While it is essential that schools provide safe, consistently-structured environments and non-academic supports to students who need them, this program does not touch on other important aspects of "school climate," such as supporting positive relationships within the school or focusing on promoting some of the mindsets and habits that are important for lifelong success.

When there have been federal incentives or investments in building skills for success in K–12, they have historically been optional and disconnected from schools' primary work of teaching and learning. For example, instead of being an integral part of primary elementary and secondary education policies like ESEA, federal efforts have mostly been through small—and in some cases, now defunct—programs In recent years, there has been renewed interest in promoting skills for success beyond the boundaries of student behavior in schools from federal legislators. For example, in 2011 and 2013, Representative Thomas Petri (R-WI) introduced the 21st Century Skills Readiness Act in the House. This bill amends ESEA to "support 21st century readiness initiatives that fuse core academic subject knowledge and higher-order thinking skills (such as critical thinking and problem solving, communication, collaboration, creativity, and innovation) to ensure that students are prepared for postsecondary education and careers, upon graduation from secondary school." The bill takes a comprehensive approach to incorporating skills for success into federal policy, by focusing on these skills as a strategy for school reform and dropout prevention under Title I, as a requirement of educator professional development under Title II, and as competencies that must be regularly assessed under Title VI policy.¹⁰⁸ In 2014, Representative Susan Davis (D-CA) introduced the Supporting Emotional Learning Act, which requires federal research on the impact of social and emotional education and "technical assistance regarding the use of scientifically valid teaching methods and assessment tools in imparting social and emotional life learning." The Act would amend the Higher Education Act to ensure that teacher preparation programs help prospective teachers better understand the research on social-emotional learning and can employ this knowledge in their practice. However, the current Congress is not expected to move either of these bills forward.

States

Standards development is a primary function of states for both early education and K–12 programs. All states' early learning standards (birth-to-school entry), typically required for state-funded pre-K programs but optional for other pre-K programs, are broad. Most include not only cognitive domains—such as early literacy, numeracy, and science—but also social-emotional development, and "approaches to learning," which includes initiative, curiosity, persistence, attentiveness, and cooperation. States also often include guidelines for creating positive learning environments that support social-emotional learning and certain other SFS.

In contrast, while all 50 states have K–12 *academic content standards*, only three states (Illinois, Kansas, and Pennsylvania) have K–12 social-emotional learning

standards with student indicators at each grade level. Two states (Washington and Idaho) have such standards for grades K–3, Connecticut is in the process of developing K–3 standards for "social and intellectual habits," and a handful of others have at least a few standards for at least one grade span that address skills such as problem solving, healthy decision making, and communication.¹⁰⁹ Illinois is the only state which mandates skills for success standards be incorporated as part of the state's K–12 overall learning standards, as is common with early learning standards.¹¹⁰

In an education system that is based on local control, tension exists between making SFS standards mandatory versus optional. How prescriptive an approach should be will likely depend on the level at which the approach is determined

But even in states that have developed K–12 standards for SFS, schools are not always required to focus on them. In these states, such as Kansas, the standards are instead viewed as guidance. As a result, states may offer training and resources to LEAs and schools, but these are also often optional undertakings for educators.

In an education system that is based on local control, tension exists between making SFS standards mandatory versus optional. How prescriptive an approach should be will likely depend on the level at which the approach is determined. For example, a state-level approach that attempts to be too prescriptive could risk being viewed as yet another top-down initiative by schools and becoming compliance-driven instead of authentically adopted and implemented. However, there is also an inherent danger in not providing any guidelines or objectives for what schools should be striving for or any accountability for taking steps toward these goals. If a state wants to ensure that every school focuses on developing these skills in all of its students, it needs to provide ample direction and incentive for doing so. (See case study on page 30 for more details about Kansas' attempt to balance mandatory and voluntary components within its SFS focus.)

Skills for Success for the Willing or for All? A Case Study of Kansas

Kansas provides an insightful example of the tension inherent in balancing local autonomy and widespread, substantive implementation of approaches for growing students' skills for success. In 2012, Kansas adopted statewide Social Emotional Character Development (SECD) standards drawing on the Character Education Partnership's 11 Principles of Effective Character Education and CASEL's Social and Emotional Learning Core Competencies. The SECD standards outline "model essential personal life habits that contribute to academic, vocational, and personal success" for students to learn, practice, and model.¹¹¹ However, as they are considered "model standards," LEAs can opt to work toward them or not, meaning that not only does Kansas not require a *specific* approach for schools to help students achieve these habits, it does not require *any* approach.

Kansas' rationale for this decision is that – as a local control state, where school boards and superintendents choose what curricula to follow – making the standards mandatory could be seen as state overreach. This line of reasoning is unfounded given that many states do mandate academic content standards without requiring specific curricula or instructional materials. Meg Wilson, former co-chair of Kansas' SECD Standards Committee, and the current principal of Hoisington High School in central Kansas, notes that efforts to implement SFS gain greater buy-in and more successful implementation when students and educators are part of the development process for their individual school. "It's important that all schools and LEAs have some say in the development of their [school's] principles" to ensure "a common language that students and staff speak together," she said.¹¹²

The absence of requirements has been SECD's greatest challenge, says Noalee McDonald-Augustine, also a former co-chair of Kansas' SECD Standards Committee, and currently an educational consultant at one of the state's service centers. She said, "there are individuals who don't want to invest the time if it's not required," particularly since some educators "believe schools have no business teaching these skills and that this is an issue that should be dealt with in the home." At the same time, many other educators are not even aware of the SECD standards, and the state does not have a formal method to track which LEAs have chosen to implement them.¹¹³

At the moment, Kansas' approach appears to be falling short of providing all students with opportunities to develop the habits and skills necessary for academic and lifelong success. However, the state has a new school accreditation process in development that may strike a better balance between prescriptiveness and flexibility for SECD.¹¹⁴ If Kansas follows through on its ESEA waiver plan, in 2015–16 it will begin requiring evidence of school effort and performance on a broad set of measures which it refers to as the "5 R's": responsive culture, relevance, relationships, rigor, and results. Adoption and implementation of SECD is expected to be one way that schools could demonstrate they are meeting expectations on the "responsive culture" metric. Doing so, McDonald-Augustine says, could better focus schools and educator preparation providers on helping students develop these skills. Whether it does will depend on whether Kansas designs the accreditation system in a way that requires schools to provide strong evidence of their "responsive culture" and the state's willingness to put consequences in place for schools that fail to do so.

Even when state policies "require" K–12 adoption of SFS standards or implementation, as with any educational practice, there are obstacles. to ensuring they are implemented well

Other states are beginning to require LEAs or schools that they deem in need of significant improvement to train on, implement, and/or assess skills for success, as Illinois has planned for its school improvement system. In 2013, Illinois also put new administrative rules into effect which require its educator preparation programs to incorporate training on the state's social and emotional learning standards in order to gain state program approval.¹¹⁵

Even when state policies "require" K-12 adoption of SFS standards or implementation, as with any educational practice, there are obstacles to ensuring they are implemented well. For example, as a result of the Children's Mental Health Act of 2003, the Illinois State Board of Education (ISBE) adopted the Illinois Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) Standards.¹¹⁶ However, whether standards are ultimately incorporated into educational programming within schools and classrooms is only monitored at the local level. And, "with schools' primary improvement planning focus being on academic performance, in a large part due to the previous No Child Left Behind's goals and interventions, teachers have tended to continue focusing greatly on academics, as well," explains Michele Carmichael, Principal Consultant, Schools and Behavioral Health Support at ISBE.117

Implementation may be particularly challenging when the people responsible for academics and school improvement are not the same as (or are not working closely with) those responsible for standards and approaches to develop K-12 SFS. In particular, the state agency(ies) in charge of SFS standards often influences whether K-12 educators will act on them. Historically, many states' (and LEAs') work in this area has been housed in departments focused on mental health or overall well-being, or in a division of the Department of Education that is not tightly connected to instruction or school improvement. For example, in Idaho, the K-3 social-emotional development standards are housed in the Department of Health and Welfare, and while Kansas' Department of Education "owns" its Social Emotional Character Development standards, the Education Counseling arm of its Learning Services division heads up this work.¹¹⁸ As a result, teachers and school leaders are less likely to be aware of the standards or to believe that they are directly related to their academic work. This is less of an issue with pre-K, because all of the state's' early learning guidelines, both content and SFS standards, fall within the purview of one state agency.

Another role for states is monitoring and accountability. Both early education and K–12 have only begun to scratch the surface in this area when it comes to skills for success. For K–12, states do play a significant role in monitoring schools' and LEAs' progress on academic content standards, and holding them accountable for reaching stated academic achievement goals. Recently, a few states have also begun to explore systems for monitoring LEAs' and/or schools' focus on bolstering SFS. For example, Illinois has instituted a statewide survey of schools assessing five indicators which research has shown to be important for student success, including a supportive school environment.¹¹⁹ The state has also taken steps to incorporate items related to developing students' skills for success within educators' evaluation ratings. But while a few states include information on conditions for school success on school report cards,¹²⁰ such as number of disciplinary actions,¹²¹ it does not appear that any use this information yet to trigger action, including determining where to provide technical assistance or training.

LEA-level standards or "visions" may better reflect the goals and context of local communities than statelevel efforts, easing the process of bringing educators and parents on board with implementation. However, as is the rationale behind statewide academic content standards, creating statewide SFS standards can ensure a common, minimum level of skill attainment for all students in the state, not just those in LEAs that independently choose to prioritize this work

Local Education Agencies

Local Education Agencies (LEAs)—and larger pre-K providers, such as Educare Network, Head Start grantees overseeing multiple programs, and AppleTree Institute—also play a role in setting a common agenda for skills for success for the schools or programs in their purview. For example, some LEAs in states without SFS standards, particularly large ones like Anchorage School District in Alaska, have created their own standards for what skills students are expected to master, often with indicators of what demonstration of mastery looks like for each grade level or span.¹²²

Other LEAs, such as Farmington Public Schools in Connecticut, have worked with the community to identify skills important for their students to attain for academic and personal success, and then worked backwards to align all systems—grade-level curricula, professional development, assessments, and so forth—to this vision.¹²³ In addition to setting goals and expectations, these LEAs, as with larger pre-K operators, are often creating and/or providing training and resources to educators on strategies for incorporating these skills into classrooms and schools, and monitoring the success of implementation. Like states, LEAs sometimes incorporate monitoring information into systems for holding schools and educators accountable as well.

LEA-level standards or "visions" may better reflect the goals and context of local communities than state-level efforts, easing the process of bringing educators and parents on board with implementation. However, as is the rationale behind statewide academic content standards, creating statewide SFS standards can ensure a common, minimum level of skill attainment for all students in the state, not just those in LEAs that independently choose to prioritize this work. State-level consistency also means that states can develop trainings and resources to support all LEAs and schools as well as put in place systems to monitor implementation and outcomes. The best approach may be consistency at the state level with some flexibility at the LEA level to reflect local needs. One way to do this would be to develop state model standards and allow LEAs to select from a menu of approved implementation approaches and assessments.

ARE THERE OPPORTUNITIES TO BORROW PRACTICES FROM EARLY EDUCATION FOR LATER GRADES?

o date, many K-12 educators have not seen development of student's SFS as a priority. This view has been reinforced by standards, assessment, and accountability policies at the federal, state, and local levels that place a premium on reading and math achievement in third through twelfth grade. In many places this narrow focus has pushed down to first and second grade and in some cases even kindergarten and pre-kindergarten as administrators and teachers feel pressured to ensure students meet later grades' accountability goals. But the research on early childhood development contradicts this trend, emphasizing instead the need for both children's SFS development and academic learning.¹²⁴ Taking a page from early education programs could help elementary, middle, and high schools create positive learning conditions that help students to not only be socially and emotionally competent and flexible thinkers, but also achieve academically at high levels. Below are some early education ideas that perhaps should be "pushed up" to positively affect learning in elementary and secondary schools.

In early education (birth-to-school-entry) many SFS are woven into standards, assessments, and accountability systems. As with K–12, state early learning standards for pre-K include standards for numeracy, literacy, and other content areas, but they also include standards for maintaining self-control, interacting positively with others, managing emotions, exploring curiosities, and persisting on a challenging problem. Additionally, opportunities for students to develop these skills are often both embedded in everyday learning and explicitly taught.

When it comes to assessment, pre-K takes a broader look at children's knowledge and skill development. Assessments typically consider a variety of evidence obtained through direct assessments, observation, and performance tasks. While it may not be feasible to implement assessments in these same ways for older students, K–12 schools should further explore ways to capture a more well-rounded picture of student learning and development and use that information to inform instruction and classroom climate throughout the year.

In terms of accountability and monitoring, evaluators of pre-K programs and observers of pre-K teachers consider elements of classroom climate and teacherchild interactions that promote student skills for success. Tools that zero in on the quality of interactions between teachers and children, such as CLASS, are often required as part of state-funded pre-K monitoring, federal monitoring of Head Start programs, or for program accreditation.

Finally, early education embraces child development research to guide the creation of standards, curricula, instructional methods, and assessments. In K–12, research on early and middle childhood as well as on adolescence should do the same. Some prepackaged programs already attempt to reflect students' developmental or grade level, such as the aforementioned TRIPOD student surveys. But there are opportunities to do more.

CONCLUSIONS

igh-quality pre-K programs are proof that the conversation need not be about whether schools should focus on imparting content knowledge OR skills for success. Both are important, and are in many ways symbiotic. Certain skills (e.g., perseverance) help students attain knowledge, while certain knowledge (e.g., knowing that "intelligence" is not fixed, but malleable) helps students improve their skills (e.g., perseverance).

While research demonstrates that many skills for success should be incorporated as early in childhood as possible, it also clearly shows that schools can continue to impact SFS in older students. Schools that are struggling, though, often overlook SFS in favor of intense focus on content knowledge, seeing it as an "extra" they cannot afford to do, literally and figuratively. What they fail to understand is that these skills are, in fact, closely linked to academic achievement and other positive student outcomes. Some of the impact can be indirect, such as through changing how students perceive their own skills and abilities in order to promote increased engagement in school and further skills development. Having these types of SFS can help students to succeed academically and personally.

Schools that are struggling, though, often overlook SFS in favor of intense focus on content knowledge, seeing it as an "extra" they cannot afford to do, literally and figuratively.

Having a federal focus on cultivating SFS would help promote a clearer focus in this area for K–12 schools, as it has in pre-K. However, just putting policy in place is not sufficient to attain the goal of strengthening these skills in our students. Which entity "owns" implementation of the policy matters for gaining attention and obtaining support from key stakeholders. Whether these efforts are successful will depend on the willingness and ability of educators, and the communities in which they teach, to move this work forward. One critical part of developing educator and community excitement about SFS is to communicate the evidence for how these can help students succeed in school and in life more broadly and how they are a critical piece of the move toward collegeand career-ready standards, not an add on. Above all, educators must be provided with the training necessary to do the work.

That being said, any approach taken to improving SFS must recognize that some significant changes to school and classroom environments may need to occur to have a long-term impact. Research indicates that the learning context is important for students' development of some SFS, and failing to address a negative or unsupportive educational climate could prevent potential benefits of other SFS efforts from being realized.¹²⁵ Transforming learning environments will require sustained focus and resources at the district and state levels, with support from the federal government.

Assessing each of these specific types of skills in individual students is difficult, and may not be possible without significant time and expense. In fact, it may not be possible to assess certain skills well at all. For example, trying to measure "grit" on an annual basis may not make sense if grit is defined as self-control in pursuit of a long-term goal. But as more research is done, both by academics and practitioners, the methods for doing so are improving. These assessments, along with content knowledge tests-such as the new Common Core State Standards aligned assessments-can provide a more comprehensive understanding of students' skills and areas for growth. But just because we can measure individual students' skills does not mean that we necessarily should, at least not in a consequential way. K-12 policymakers and practitioners can learn from early education programs that use studentlevel assessments for diagnostic and formative purposes, teacher observations to inform and improve SFS practices, and ratings of school and classroom environments to create supportive conditions.

RECOMMENDATIONS

New America makes several recommendations for how various entities—federal and state governments, LEAs, schools, and research institutions can encourage progress on developing certain SFS in schools, PreK-12.

Four Key Recommendations for Federal and State Policymakers

Federal and state policymakers should set the stage for a greater school focus on bolstering certain skills for success by:

- Providing funding and resources for LEAs 1. and schools to experiment with different implementation models and assessments. Approaches to cultivating students' skills for success are not necessarily costly, but associated needs for planning, professional development, and assessment can require additional resources. Support from government agencies can help encourage schools, LEAs, and states to make this a priority. A first step could be to provide competitive funds to a subset of LEAs and/or states that have already adopted and begun to implement broad SFS approaches. They would, in turn, agree to share resources developed and implementation and outcome conclusions. A portion of funds should bolster efforts by states and LEAs that want to incorporate a larger focus on SFS and have a thoughtful plan for doing so. States, LEAs, and schools should also be required to explain how this work fits into their larger strategic plans. It is also important to require clear partnerships between agencies or departments that should be involved in the work to ensure coordination towards meeting established goals. Finally, requiring a sustainability plan will help prevent the work from falling by the wayside if outside funding sources disappear.
- Promoting a more holistic approach to school 2. assessment and accountability. There must be some stakes to ensure school and LEA leaders are held responsible for developing students' skills for success in all grade levels. In particular, they should be held responsible for establishing a positive school climate and culture, as the learning environment is a precondition for developing engaged and successful students. This could be done by including school climate as part of public reporting and transparency. For example, states could include school climate survey results as a component of each schools' report card, if the survey has been proven to be valid and reliable. Schools identified as "in need of improvement" could be required to review their climate and practices as part of a needs assessment and to develop a plan to address subsequent issues. However, policymakers must ensure sufficient time for high-quality educator training and assessments for formative purposes before releasing assessment data for public consumption or "high stakes" accountability purposes.
- Encouraging shifts in educator practice by 3. incorporating a focus on developing students' skills for success into educator evaluations that inform development and personnel decisions. Observations of teachers should provide formative and summative feedback on their skills in creating environments and/or providing explicit instruction to support SFS. Additionally, surveys that collect student perceptions of classroom climate hold promise as one measure of SFS implementation to use in teacher performance evaluations. In fact, seven states are already doing so, and nine states explicitly allow but do not require surveys to be included.126 Similarly for school leaders, surveys that collect teacher, student, and parent perceptions of school climate could be one element of evaluations.

4. Promoting a more holistic approach to student assessment. A more comprehensive system of student-level assessments—including elements such as teacher observations, performance tasks, and computer-based activities-can provide helpful formative information for teachers, parents, and students. However, while pre-K and kindergarten teachers may sometimes use this kind of information to guide discussions with parents about whether children are socially ready to move to the next grade, generally the results from these assessments should not be used to hold students back or for a class grade. Holistic student assessment would be much more likely to occur if school accountability systems were also based on more comprehensive measures than standardized tests in math and English Language Arts.

Additional Recommendations

To ensure the above policy recommendations have the desired effect, the following stakeholders should engage in these additional actions:

Federal Policymakers

• Funding more research to help determine the most effective approaches and assessment methods and disseminate that information widely, including to states, LEAs, and schools.

State Policymakers

- Recognizing that passing legislation and establishing regulations to create skills for success standards can help ensure schools prioritize these skills, but are not sufficient on their own. Because of this, policymakers must also ensure that:
 - Standard-setting and coordination at the state level are paired with implementation support at the local level.
 - > When developing a comprehensive set of SFS standards, LEAs should be allowed flexibility to stagger the implementation of those standards based on a local needs assessment that identifies SFS priority areas.

- At the state level, SFS standards be part of a department closely tied to academic instruction and school performance. Not doing so almost guarantees standards will not be incorporated into school and classroom practices.
- At the local level, school leaders and teachers understand why the standards have been created or why they are being asked to focus on school climate. In order to garner backing at the local level, states will need to provide ample communication, effective training, reasonable expectations, and sufficient room for customization for the approaches used to impart skills. Key assessment measures should be comparable across schools.
- Requiring educator preparation programs, as a part of program approval, to train prospective educators in methods for establishing positive classroom and school environments which can bolster students' SFS.
 - Educator preparation programs must focus on helping teacher and school leader candidates learn about research and teaching strategies to impart these skills as well. To do so, states can require a demonstrated focus on these areas for program accreditation, and attempt to assess familiarity with the research and approaches on licensure and certification exams.
- Providing LEAs and schools with digestible research on the importance of promoting student SFS on student outcomes—including academic outcomes—to build support for a larger school focus on these skills.
 - States should also provide this information in a format that can be easily shared with educators, parents, students, and the community and offer suggestions for how to effectively do so (e.g., through social media, at parent-teacher conferences, etc.).

LEA-Level Policymakers

• Clearly communicating with school leaders and teachers to help ensure all educators are on board with intentionally supporting the development of students' SFS.

- Noalee McDonald-Augustine, former co-chair of Kansas' SECD Standards Committee, shared her metaphor for helping educators understand why these skills must be developed at every grade level: "Athletes work on the basics at every practice, at every level. Even though you might be a professional, you continue to work on the basic skills, even though they're more automatic. It's the same thing with [skills for success]—we can't just assume because [students] learned it in elementary school that you don't need to continue to address it in later grades ."¹²⁷
- > Another communication strategy is to explain how implementing conditions and practices that promote SFS has always been part of an educator's job; it is simply being more formalized.
- Providing ample training for school leaders and teachers on how to develop students' SFS, and use feedback from assessments to drive professional learning opportunities.
 - In many cases, these are new expectations that educators did not necessarily train for in their preparation program. Educator understanding and comfort with implementing approaches for delivering SFS and establishing positive learning environments are necessary for realizing their full potential.
- Sharing research with educators, parents, students, and the community on the impact of promoting SFS on student outcomes, including academic outcomes.

School-Level Educators

- **Raising awareness of the importance of SFS** among school and LEA leadership and peers.
 - Educators do not have to wait for policymakers to take action in this area. A school leadership team or group of educators can drive adoption of practices and environments that cultivate these skills in students, as has occasionally been the model by which the Responsive Classroom program has expanded from being used by a few teachers in a school to a school-wide initiative.

- **Beginning to embed practices throughout the day that help build student SFS**, potentially along with explicit skills instruction.
 - > While stand-alone lessons and programs can help build students' SFS, there is potential for more impact by embedding the focus throughout the day across other areas of learning, discipline, classroom organization, and procedures.

Looking to students for insights, when developmentally appropriate, into how to improve classroom and school environments.

> This should include conversations and dialogue with students (e.g., as with Boston's Student Advisory Council¹²⁸) in addition to broader surveys and other data collection methods.

Education and Psychometric Researchers

- Continuing to research new and current implementation methods and programs in order to provide feedback to practitioners and policymakers about which may help them best impart SFS.
 - It is particularly important to capture the level and fidelity of implementation of these practices and methods in schools, in order to understand their full potential versus actual impact. Providing an understanding of the work necessary to train school staff to implement these approaches with fidelity will also help ensure adequate resources are available and enlisted in this work.
- Continuing to research current assessment methods to assess validity and reliability, and developing additional assessments that can meet these criteria
 - For example, there seems to be new potential in computer game-based assessment. Further research should be done to see if this is a viable approach to SFS assessment, or whether the skills they are able to measure are unlikely to be applicable to real-world contexts. In developing new evaluations, researchers should, when possible, take into account the time and resource constraints of schools and teachers.

FINAL THOUGHTS

The responsibility for developing SFS does not lie with students and parents alone, and pre-K programs are proof that this need not be a bifurcated conversation about whether schools should focus on imparting content knowledge *or* skills for success. While more needs to be learned about how to best support students' development of some of these skills from pre-K through secondary school, schools can and should experiment with evidence-based approaches to directly and indirectly do so. But only through a focus on assessment will schools know which skills to work on, which approach(es) to use, and how well they are implementing the approach(es). And only by ensuring that school and educator accountability systems ultimately incorporate information from these assessments will developing student SFS be seen as a priority for elementary, middle, and high schools, as it is for high-quality pre-K programs.

While more needs to be learned about how to best support students' development of skills for success, schools can and should experiment with evidence-based approaches to do so

Appendix		What are Different Skills for Success Terms and Definitions?
----------	--	--

Terminology	Leading Group(s)	Definition
21st Century Skills	Partnership for 21st Century Skills; National Research Council	Partnership defines as: 1) Mastery of core academic subjects and themes; 2) Learning and innovation skills [critical thinking, communications, collaboration, creativity]; 3] Information, media, and technology skills; 4] Life and career skills [flexibility and adaptability, initiative and self-direction, social and cultural competence, productivity and accountability, leadership and responsibility]
Academic Enablers	Wisconsin Center for Education Research (WCER)	WCER defines as: social skills, study skills, motivation, and engagement
Academic Mindsets	University of Chicago Consortium on Chicago School Research (CCSR); Mindset Works	CCSR defines as: The psycho-social attitudes or beliefs one has about oneself in relation to academic work. These mindsets affect our motivation and perseverance, and include: 1) I belong in this academic community; 2) My ability and competence grow with my effort; 3) I can succeed at this; 4) This work has value for me
Approaches to Learning	Office of Head Start, Administration of Children and Families; state pre-K programs	Head Start defines as:1) Initiative and curiosity; 2) persistence and attentiveness; and 3) cooperation
Character	Character Education Partnership (CEP)	CEP defines as: Moral character [empathy, fairness, trustworthiness, generosity, and compassion]; Performance character [effort, initiative, diligence, self-discipline, and perseverance]
Deeper Learning	William and Flora Hewlett Foundation	Hewlett defines as: 1) Master core academic content; 2) Think critically and solve complex problems; 3) Work collaboratively; 4) Communicate effectively; 5) Learn how to learn (set/monitor progress toward goals, know/ apply study skills, seek out challenges, ask for help when necessary, reflect on learning, delay gratification, etc.); 6) Develop academic mindsets
Executive Function	Developmental Psychologists; National Center on Learning Disabilities (NCLD)	NCLD defines as: A set of mental processes that helps connect past experience with present action. People use it to perform activities such as planning, organizing, strategizing, paying attention to and remembering details, and managing time and space.
School Climate Domains	National School Climate Center [NSCC]	NSCC defines as: 1) Safety (rules and norms, sense of physical and social- emotional security); 2) Teaching and Learning (support for learning, social and civic learning); 3) Interpersonal relationships (respect for diversity, social support (student-adult and student-student); 4) Institutional environment (school engagement, physical surroundings, staff leadership and professional relationships)
Social and Emotional Learning Competencies	Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning [CASEL]	CASEL defines as: 1) self-awareness; 2) self-management; 3) social awarenes; 4) relationship skills; and 5) responsible decision-making

Notes

- 1. Paul Tough, How Children Succeed (New York: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt, 2012).
- Judith Anderson Koenig for the National Research Council, Assessing 21st Century Skills: Summary of a Workshop (Washington, DC: National Academies Press, 2011).
- Jeffrey A. Rosen et al., Noncognitive Skills in the Classroom: New Perspectives on Educational Research (Research Triangle Park, NC: RTI Press, 2010).
- Beth Doll, William Pfohl, and Jina S. Yoon, "Building Conditions for Learning and Healthy Adolescent Development: A Strategic Approach," in Handbook Of Youth Prevention Science, 1st ed. (New York: Routledge, 2010), 122.
- Mary Alice McCarthy, Beyond the Skills Gap: Making Education Work for Students, Employers, and Communities (Washington, DC: New America, 2014), <u>http://www. edcentral.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/20141013</u> <u>BeyondTheSkillsGap.pdf</u>.
- Bloom's Taxonomy Of Educational Objectives accessed at UNC Charlotte: The Center For Teaching And Learning, 2014, <u>http://teaching.uncc.edu/learning-resources/articlesbooks/best-practice/goals-objectives/blooms-educationalobjectives.</u>
- Committee for Children, "Ready to Succeed in School: Self-Regulation Skills and the New Second Step Early Learning Program," 2014. <u>http://www.cfchildren.org/second-step/ social-emotional-learning/early-learning-self-regulationskills.aspx</u>.
- 8. Personality Theories, "Abraham Maslow," <u>http://webspace.</u> <u>ship.edu/cgboer/Maslow.html</u>.
- Stephanie M. Jones and Suzanne M. Bouffard, "Social and Emotional Learning in Schools: From Programs to Strategies," Social Policy Report 26, no. 4 (2012): 3–22.
- 10. Center on the Developing Child, "Key Concepts: Brain Architecture," Harvard University, 2014, <u>http://</u><u>developingchild.harvard.edu/key_concepts/brain_architecture/;</u> Camille A. Farrington, Melissa Roderick, Elaine Allensworth, Jenny Nagaoka, Tasha Seneca Keyes, David W. Johnson, and Nicole O. Beechum, Teaching Adolescents to Become Learners: The Role of Noncognitive Factors in Shaping School Performance: A Critical Literature Review (Chicago: University of Chicago Consortium on Chicago School Research, 2012), http://ccsr.uchicago.edu/sites/default/files/publications/Noncognitive%20Report.pdf.
- Sarah-Jayne Blakemore and Suparna Choudhury, "Development of the Adolescent Brain: Implications for Executive Function and Social Cognition," Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry 47, no. 3–4 (2006): 296–312.

- Joseph A. Durlak, Roger P. Weissberg, Allison B. Dymnicki, Rebecca D. Taylor, and Kriston B. Schellinger, "The Impact of Enhancing Students' Social and Emotional Learning: A Meta-analysis of School-based Universal Interventions." Child Development 82, no. 1 (2011): 405-432.
- Carol S. Dweck, Gregory M. Walton, and Geoffrey L. Cohen, Academic Tenacity: Mindsets and Skills that Promote Long-Term Learning (Seattle, WA: Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, 2014), <u>http://www.stanford.edu/~gwalton/ home/Publications_files/DweckWaltonCohen_2014.pdf</u>.
- 14. Ibid.
- 15. Alexandra Loukas, "What Is School Climate? High-Quality School Climate is Advantageous for All Students and May Be Particularly Beneficial for At-Risk Students," Leadership Compass 5, no. 1 (2007), <u>https://www.naesp.org/resources/2/Leadership Compass/2007/LC2007v5n1a4.</u> <u>pdf</u>; National School Climate Center, "FAQ's About School Climate," <u>http://www.schoolclimate.org/climate/faq.php</u>.
- 16. Amrit Thapa, Jonathan Cohen, Ann Higgins-D'Alessandro, and Shawn Guffey, "School Climate Research Summary: August 2012," School Climate Brief, No. 3 (2012): 7, <u>http://www.schoolclimate.org/climate/documents/policy/sc-brief-v3.pdf</u>
- Child Trends, "A Positive School Climate Can Mean A Successful School Year," 2014, <u>http://www.childtrends.</u> org/a-positive-school-climate-can-mean-a-successfulschool-year/.
- Amrit Thapa, Jonathan Cohen, Ann Higgins-D'Alessandro, and Shawn Guffey, "School Climate Research Summary: August 2012," School Climate Brief, No. 3 (2012): 7, <u>http://</u> www.schoolclimate.org/climate/documents/policy/scbrief-v3.pdf.
- 19. Adam Voight, Gregory Austin, and Thomas Hanson, A Climate For Academic Success: How School Climate Distinguishes Schools That Are Beating the Achievement Odds (Full Report) (San Francisco: WestEd, 2013), <u>http:// www.wested.org/resources/a-climate-for-academicsuccess-how-school-climate-distinguishes-schools-thatare-beating-the-achievement-odds-full-report/.</u>
- 20. John Bridgeland, Mary Bruce, and Arya Hariharan, The Missing Piece: A National Teacher Survey On How Social And Emotional Learning Can Empower Children And Transform Schools, (Chicago: Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning, 2013), 15.
- 21. Ibid.
- 22. William J. Bushaw and Shane J. Lopez, "Which Way Do We Go?" 45th Annual PDK/Gallup Poll of the Public Attitudes Towards the Public Schools, 2013.
- 23. Conor P. Williams, "Despite All The Conspiracy Theories, Common Core Is Actually Just Boring," Talking Points

Memo, 2014, <u>http://talkingpointsmemo.com/cafe/</u> <u>common-core-boring</u>.

- 24. University of Florida College of Education, "Tools for Getting Along—Introduction," <u>http://education.ufl.edu/</u> <u>behavior-management-resource-guide/files/2011/05/tools</u> <u>getting along introduction.pdf</u>.
- 25. What Works Clearinghouse, WWC Review of the Report: "Reducing Developmental Risk for Emotional/Behavioral Problems: A Randomized Controlled Trial Examining the Tools for Getting Along Curriculum," U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, 2013, <u>http:// ies.ed.gov/ncee/wwc/pdf/single_study_reviews/wwc_tools_031213.pdf</u>.
- The Glossary of Education Reform, "Blended Learning" definition, 2013, <u>http://edglossary.org/blended-learning/</u>.
- 27. Mindset Works, "The Brainology Program," 2012, <u>http://</u><u>www.mindsetworks.com/brainology/</u>.
- Mindset Works, "Evidence Of Impact: Brainology and Mindset Works Schoolkit," 2012, <u>http://</u> www.mindsetworks.com/websitemedia/info/ impactsummaryhandout.pdf.
- HighScope Educational Research Foundation, "Approaches to Learning," 2014, <u>http://www.highscope.org/Content.</u> <u>asp?ContentId=719</u>.
- HighScope Educational Research Foundation, "Lifetime Effects: The HighScope Perry Preschool Study Through Age 40 (2005)," 2014, <u>http://www.highscope.org/Content.</u> <u>asp?ContentId=219</u>.
- 31. Sara E. Rimm-Kaufman et al., "Efficacy Of The Responsive Classroom Approach: Results from a 3-Year, Longitudinal Randomized Controlled Trial," American Educational Research Journal, March 6, 2014, 51 (2).
- 32. Sara Rimm-Kaufman, phone interview with author, May 1, 2014.
- Lora Hodges, "Responsive Classroom is Expanding into Middle School," Responsive Classroom blog, June 6, 2014, <u>https://www.responsiveclassroom.org/blog/responsiveclassroom-expanding-middle-school.</u>
- 34. Stephanie M. Jones and Suzanne M. Bouffard, Social and Emotional Learning in Schools: From Programs to Strategies, Social Policy Report (Society for Research in Child Development, 2014).
- 35. Lydia Carlis, Chief of Research and Innovation, AppleTree Institute for Education Innovation, email exchange with author, July 24, 2014.
- Mindset Works, "Mindset Works Educator Kit," 2012, <u>http://www.mindsetworks.com/professional-development-and-tools/</u>.
- 37. EdVisions Schools, "EdVisions Schools Design Essentials,"

2014, http://www.edvisionsschools.org/default.asp.

- Buck Institute for Education (BIE), "What Is Project Based Learning (PBL)?" 2014, <u>http://bie.org/about/what_pbl</u>.
- 39. Keven Kroehler, phone interview with author, March 18, 2014.
- 40. Camille A. Farrington, Melissa Roderick, Elaine Allensworth, Jenny Nagaoka, Tasha Seneca Keyes, David W. Johnson, and Nicole O. Beechum, Teaching Adolescents To Become Learners. The Role Of Noncognitive Factors In Shaping School Performance: A Critical Literature Review (Chicago: University of Chicago Consortium on Chicago School Research, 2014), <u>https://ccsr.uchicago.edu/sites/ default/files/publications/Noncognitive%20Report.pdf</u>.
- 41. In the education arena, the term "assessment" is often assumed to mean "test." While tests are one form of assessment, there are various forms assessments can—and should—take that can help promote decision making and understanding of approaches and outcomes related to skills for success.
- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL), "CASEL Practice Rubric for Schoolwide SEL Implementation (2006), 18, <u>http://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED505360</u>.
- 43. NAEYC, Developmentally Appropriate Practice in Early Childhood Programs Serving Children from Birth through Age 8, Position Statement of the National Association for the Education of Young Children, 2009, <u>http://www.naeyc.</u> org/files/naeyc/file/positions/position%20statement%20 <u>Web.pdf;</u> Center on the Developing Child, "Enhancing and Practicing Executive Function Skills with Children from Infancy to Adolescence," Harvard University, 2014, <u>http://</u> developingchild.harvard.edu/resources/tools_and_guides/ enhancing_and_practicing_executive_function_skills_ with_children/.
- 44. Steve Elliott, co-author of Social Skills Improvement System (SSIS), phone interview with author, May 1 2014.
- 45. Matthew A. Clifford, Roshni Menon, Christopher Condon, and Katie Hornung, Measuring School Climate for Gauging Principal Performance: A Review of the Validity and Reliability of Publicly Accessible Measures (Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research, 2012), <u>http://www. air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/school_ climate2_o.pdf</u>.
- National School Climate Center, "Measuring School Climate (CSCI)," 2014, <u>http://www.schoolclimate.org/</u> programs/csci.php.
- 47. National School Climate Center, "The 12 Dimensions of School Climate Measured," 2014, <u>http://www. schoolclimate.org/programs/documents/dimensions_ chart_pagebars.pdf</u>.

- HighScope Educational Research Foundation, "About the Ready School Assessment—Details for Decision Makers," 2009, <u>http://www.readyschoolassessment.org/about/</u> <u>RSADecisionMakerInformation.pdf.</u>
- 49. Matthew A. Clifford, Roshni Menon, Christopher Condon, and Katie Hornung, Measuring School Climate for Gauging Principal Performance: A Review of the Validity and Reliability of Publicly Accessible Measures (Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research, 2012), <u>http://www. air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/school_ climate2_o.pdf</u>.
- 50. Rebecca Berlin, Chief Strategy Officer, Teachstone Training, LLC, email exchange with author, September 9, 2014.
- Amy Mountz , Senior Advisor, Research and Evaluation, Teachstone Training, LLC, email exchange with author, October 10, 2014.
- 52. Nicholas Yoder, Teaching The Whole Child: Instructional Practices That Support Social-Emotional Learning In Three Teacher Evaluation Frameworks (Washington, D.C.: The Center on Great Teachers and Leaders, American Institutes for Research, 2014), <u>http://www.gtlcenter.org/sites/default/</u> <u>files/TeachingtheWholeChild.pdf</u>.
- 53. Tripod Education Partners, "Frequently Asked Questions," 2014, http://tripoded.com/general-faq/.
- 54. Ibid.
- 55. Steven Cantrell and Thomas J. Kane, Ensuring Fair and Reliable Measures of Effective Teaching: Culminating Findings From The MET Project's Three-Year Study, Measures of Effective Teaching Project (Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, 2013), <u>http://www.metproject.org/ downloads/MET_Ensuring_Fair_and_Reliable_Measures_ Practitioner_Brief.pdf.</u>
- 56. Jeff Schulz, Gunjan Sud, and Becky Crowe, Lessons From The Field: The Role of Student Surveys in Teacher Evaluation and Development (Bellwether Education Partners, 2014).
- 57. Camille Farrington, phone interview with author, April 15, 2014.
- 58. Creators of Behavior Rating Inventory Of Executive Function (BRIEF), Gerard A. Gioia (Division Chief and Professor, Pediatric Neuropsychology, Children's National Health System, George Washington School of Medicine), and Peter Isquith, (Adjunct Assistant Professor of Psychiatry, Geisel School of Medicine, Dartmouth University), phone interview with author, April 28, 2014; Psychological Assessment Resources (PAR), "Behavior Rating Inventory Of Executive Function," 2014, <u>http://www4.parinc.com/Products/Product.</u> <u>aspx?ProductID=BRIEF</u>.
- 59. Jennifer Jeffries, Research Associate, Teaching Strategies,

LLC, phone interview with author, June 2014.

- 60. KIPP (Knowledge is Power Program), "Character Growth Card," 2014, <u>http://www.kipp.org/files/dmfile/</u> January2014CharacterGrowthCard.pdf.
- 61. KIPP (Knowledge is Power Program), "Our Approach: Character Counts," 2014, <u>http://www.kipp.org/our-approach/character</u>.
- 62. John R. Best, Patricia H. Miller, and Jack A. Naglieri, "Relations Between Executive Function and Academic Achievement from Ages 5 to 17 in a Large, Representative National Sample," Learning and Individual Differences 21, no. 4 (2011): 327–336.
- 63. Rebecca Raber, Senior Communications Manager, Doris and Donald Fisher Fund, email exchange with author, October 24, 2014.
- 64. Pearson's Clinical Assessment Group, "Social Skills Improvement System (SSIS) Classwide Intervention Program," 2014, <u>http://www.pearsonclinical.com/</u> <u>education/products/100000337/social-skills-improvement-</u> <u>system-ssis-classwide-intervention-program-ssis-cip.</u> <u>html#tab-details.</u>
- 65. Steve Elliott, phone interview with author, May 1 2014.
- 66. Pearson's Clinical Assessment Group, "Social Skills Improvement System (SSIS) Classwide Intervention Program," 2014, <u>http://www.pearsonclinical.com/</u> <u>education/products/100000337/social-skills-improvement-</u> <u>system-ssis-classwide-intervention-program-ssis-cip.</u> <u>html#tab-details</u>.
- 67. Pearson's Clinical Assessment Group, "Social Skills Improvement System (SSIS) Rating Scales," 2014, <u>http://</u> www.pearsonclinical.com/education/products/10000322/ social-skills-improvement-system-ssis-rating-scales. html#tab-details.
- Farmington Public Schools Superintendent Kathy Greider, Assistant Superintendent Kim Wynne, and Curriculum Specialist Veronica Ruzek, phone interview with author, March 2014.
- 69. Victoria B. Damiani, Portfolio Assessment in the Classroom (Bethesda, MD: National Association of School Psychologists, 2014).
- 70. Mette Huberman, Catherine Bitter, Jennifer Anthony, and Jennifer O'Day, The Shape of Deeper Learning: Strategies, Structures, and Cultures in Deeper Learning Network High Schools: Report #1 Findings From The Study Of Deeper Learning: Opportunities and Outcomes (Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research, 2014). <u>http://www.air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/Report%201%20</u> The%20Shape%200f%20Deeper%20Learning_9-23-14v2.pdf.
- 71. Council for Aid to Education, "CLA+ Overview," 2014, http://cae.org/participating-institutions/cwra-overview/.

- Council for Aid to Education, "Sample High School 2012– 2013 CWRA Institutional Report," <u>http://cae.org/images/</u> <u>uploads/pdf/CWRA_1213_Report_Sample_High_School.pdf.</u>
- 73. Council for Aid to Education, "Introducing CWRA+: Fostering Great Critical Thinkers," 2014, <u>http://cae.org/</u> <u>images/uploads/pdf/Introduction to CWRA Plus.pdf</u>.
- 74. Council for Aid to Education, 'Sample Student Score Report', 2014, <u>http://cae.org/images/uploads/pdf/Sample_</u> <u>CWRA Plus Student Score Report.pdf.</u>
- 75. Ken Kay, Chief Executive Officer at EdLeader 21, phone interview with author, May 27, 2014.
- America Achieves, "The OECD Test For Schools: Frequently Asked Questions," 2014, <u>http://www.americaachieves.org/</u> <u>docs/OECD/FAQ-OECD.pdf</u>.
- 77. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, How Your School Compares Internationally: OECD Test For Schools (Based On PISA) Pilot Trial, 2012, <u>http://www.oecd. org/pisa/aboutpisa/OECD%20Test%20for%20Schools%20</u> -%20Herndon%20High%20School.pdf.
- Judith Anderson Koenig for the National Research Council, Assessing 21st Century Skills: Summary of a Workshop (Washington, DC: National Academies Press, 2011).
- 79. Ken Kay, Chief Executive Officer, EdLeader 21, phone interview with author, May 27, 2014.
- 80. Asia E University, "Classroom Assessment," Chapter 10, http://peoplelearn.homestead.com/BEduc/Chapter_10.pdf
- 81. Melissa E. DeRosier, Social Skills Assessment Through Games (Interchange Press: 2014).
- 82. Adaptive Health Systems, "Zoo U," 2014, <u>http://</u> adaptivehealthsystems.com/products/zoou.
- 83. Melissa DeRosier, CEO and Founder, 3C Institute and CSO and Co-Founder, Adaptive Health Systems, phone interview with author, April 28, 2014.
- Melissa E. DeRosier, Ashley B. Craig, and Rebecca P. Sanchez, "Zoo U: A Stealth Approach to Social Skills Assessment in Schools," Advances In Human-Computer Interaction 2012 (2012): 22.
- 85. Clark McKown, Associate Professor and Executive Director, Rush NeuroBehavioral Center, Rush Medical College, phone interview with author, September 11, 2014.
- 86. Kristen Loschert, "Head Start CARES: Boosting Social-Emotional Development," EdCentral, July 21, 2014, <u>http://</u> <u>www.edcentral.org/head-start-cares-boosting-social-</u> <u>emotional-development/</u>.
- Education Week Research Center, Engaging Students for Success: Findings from a National Survey (Editorial Projects in Education, 2014), <u>http://www.edweek.org/</u> media/ewrc_engagingstudents_2014.pdf?intc=EW-DPCT14-

<u>TOC</u>.

- National Council on Teacher Quality, "Standard 12: Assessment and Data: What Consumers Need to Know About Teacher Preparation," 2014, <u>http://www.nctq.org/ dmsView/Teacher_Prep_Review_2014_Std12</u>.
- 89. The Center for Advanced Study of Teaching and Learning, "MyTeachingPartner," Curry School Of Education, University of Virginia, 2014, <u>http://curry.virginia.edu/</u><u>research/centers/castl/mtp</u>; Lisa Guernsey and Susan Ochshorn, Watching Teachers Work (Washington, DC: New America Foundation, 2011).
- 90. Center on Great Teachers & Leaders, "The SEL School: Connecting Social and Emotional Learning to Effective Teaching," American Institutes for Research, 2014, <u>http://</u><u>www.gtlcenter.org/sel-school</u>.
- 91. Justin Kruger and David Dunning, "Unskilled and Unaware of It: How Difficulties in Recognizing One's Own Incompetence Lead to Inflated Self-Assessments," Journal Of Personality and Social Psychology 77, no. 6 (1999): 1121; Martin R West et al., "Promise And Paradox: Measuring Students' Non-Cognitive Skills and the Impact of Schooling," (Cambridge, MA: Harvard Graduate School of Education, 2014), http://cepr.harvard.edu/cepr-resources/ files/news-events/cepr-promise-paradox.pdf
- 92. Camille Farrington, Research Associate, University of Chicago, School of Social Service Administration, phone interview with author, April 15, 2014.
- 93. David T. Conley and Linda Darling-Hammond, Creating Systems Of Assessment For Deeper Learning (Palo Alto, CA: Stanford Center for Opportunity Policy in Education, 2013), <u>https://edpolicy.stanford.edu/publications/</u> <u>pubs/1075</u>
- 94. Elliot Regenstein and Rio Romero-Jurado, A Framework For Rethinking State Education Accountability and Support: From Birth Through High School, Ounce Policy Conversations (Ounce of Prevention Fund, 2014). <u>http://www.ounceofprevention.org/national-policy/</u> <u>conversations/Accountability-v1-060314-short.pdf</u>.
- 95. Matthew Clifford, Roshni Menon, Christopher Condon, and Katie Hornung, Measuring School Climate for Gauging Principal Performance: A Review of the Validity and Reliability of Publicly Accessible Measures (Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research, 2012), <u>http://www. air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/school_ climate2_0.pdf</u>.
- 96. Nicholas Yoder, Teaching The Whole Child: Instructional Practices That Support Social-Emotional Learning In Three Teacher Evaluation Frameworks (Washington, DC: The Center on Great Teachers and Leaders, American Institutes for Research, 2014), 9. <u>http://www.gtlcenter.org/sites/</u> <u>default/files/TeachingtheWholeChild.pdf</u>.

- 97. Colorado Department of Education, "2014–2015 User's Guide: Colorado State Model Educator System," 2014, <u>http://</u> www.cde.state.co.us/educatoreffectiveness/usersguide.
- 98. Thomas Dee and Brian Jacob, "Evaluating NCLB," Education Next 10, no. 3 (2010): 54–61.
- 99. Jane Meredith Admas, "New Focus on School Climate in Massive School Survey," EdSource, September 23, 2014, <u>http://edsource.org/2013/revised-student-survey-reflects-focus-on-school-climate/39243#.U6H75_nWV6Y;</u> California State PTA (CAPTA), "Local Control and Accountability Plan (LCAP)," 2014, <u>http://downloads.capta.org/edu/e-school-finance/LCAP.pdf</u>.
- 100. Berkeley Unified School District, "Local Control And Accountability Plan," 2014, <u>http://www.berkeleyschools.</u> <u>net/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/LCAPPlan_V18.</u> <u>pdf?adb236</u>.
- 101. Los Angeles Unified School District, "Local Control and Accountability Plan and Annual Update Template," 2014, <u>http://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/documents/</u> <u>lcaptemplateo21814.doc</u>.
- 102. Camille A. Farrington, Melissa Roderick, Elaine Allensworth, Jenny Nagaoka, Tasha Seneca Keyes, David W. Johnson, and Nicole O. Beechum, Teaching Adolescents to Become Learners: The Role of Noncognitive Factors in Shaping School Performance: A Critical Literature Review (Chicago: University of Chicago Consortium on Chicago School Research, 2012), <u>http://ccsr.uchicago.edu/sites/ default/files/publications/Noncognitive%20Report.pdf</u>.
- 103. Larry Ferlazzo, "Why Schools Should Not Grade Character Traits," The Answer Sheet blog, October 20, 2011, <u>http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/answer-sheet/post/why-schools-should-not-grade-character-traits/2011/10/20/gIQAJuoUoL_blog.html</u>.
- 104. Office of Head Start, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "The Head Start Child Development and Early Learning Framework," 2011, <u>http://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/hslc/ttasystem/teaching/eecd/Assessment/Child%20Outcomes/ revised-child-outcomes.html.</u>
- 105. One example of a short-lived federal program focused on skills for success in K–12 schools was the Partnership in Character Education Program, which was funded from 2001 to 2008. U.S. Department of Education, Partnerships in Character Education Program, "Funding Status: Archived Information," 2014, <u>http://www2.ed.gov/</u> programs/charactered/funding.html.
- 106. U.S. Department of Education, "U.S. Department of Education Invests More Than \$70 Million to Improve School Climate and Keep Students Safe," Sept. 23, 2014, found at <u>http://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/usdepartment-education-invests-more-70-million-improveschool-climate-and-keep-</u>.

- 107. Federal Register, "Application for New Awards; School Climate Transformation Grant Program—StateAgency Grants," US Department of Education, 2014, <u>http://www. gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2014-05-07/pdf/2014-10501.pdf</u>.
- 108. GovTrack, "H.R. 347: 21st Century Readiness Act," 2014, https://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/113/ hr347#summary.
- 109. Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL), "State Scan Scorecard Project," 2014, <u>https://casel.squarespace.com/state-scanscorecard-project/;</u> Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction, "Characteristics of Successful Schools Chpt 1—Standards Of The Heart," 2014, <u>http://cssch.dpi.wi.gov/ cssch_csssoh1;</u> "Identifying K–12 Standards for SEL in all 50 States," 2014, <u>https://static.squarespace.com/</u> <u>static/513f79f9e4bo5ce7b7oe9673/t/534ffofoe4bo75ba97</u> <u>60ccf4/1397747952593/casel-scorecard-summary-tablefor-k-12-20140416.pdf.</u>
- 110. Illinois State Board of Education, "Illinois Learning Standards: Social/Emotional Learning(SEL)," 2014, <u>http://</u> www.isbe.net/ils/social_emotional/standards.htm.
- 111. Kansas State Department of Education, "Kansas Social, Emotional, and Character Development Model Standards," 2014, <u>http://www.ksde.org/Portals/o/CSAS/Content%20</u> <u>Area%20(M-Z)/School%20Counseling/Soc_Emot_Char_Dev/SECD%20FINAL.pdf.</u>
- 112. Meg Wilson, Principal at Hoisington High School in Hoisington, Kansas, and former co-chair of Kansas' Social-Emotional Character Development Standards (SECD) Committee, phone interview with author, April 10, 2014.
- 113. Noalee McDonald-Augustine, Educational Consultant at Kansas' Smoky Hill Education Service Center, and former co-chair of Kansas' SECD Standards Committee, phone interview with author, April 17, 2014.
- 114. Vicki Seeger, "Kansas Accreditation Model—The 5 Rs," (presentation, Nov. 13, 2013), <u>http://coe.k-state.edu/annex/keli/download/Accreditation_5Rs.pdf</u>.
- 115. Illinois State Board of Education staff members, Kelly Rauscher (Principal Consultant, Family and Community Engagement, Learning Supports) and Michele Carmichael (Principal Consultant, Schools and Behavioral Health Support), phone interview with author, April 28, 2014; Illinois General Assembly, Joint Committee on Administrative Rules, "Section 25.115 Recognition of Institutions and Educational Units, and Approval of Programs," 2014, http://www.ilga.gov/commission/jcar/ admincode/023/023000250C01150R.html.
- 116. Illinois General Assembly, "Children's Mental Health Act of 2003," 2014, <u>http://www.ilga.gov/legislation/93/</u> <u>sb/09300sb1951enr.htm</u>; Illinois State Board of Education, "Illinois Learning Standards: Social/Emotional Learning (SEL)," 2014, <u>http://www.isbe.state.il.us/ils/social</u>

emotional/standards.htm.

- 117. Michele Carmichael, Principal Consultant, Schools and Behavioral Health Support, Illinois State Board of Education, phone interview with author, April 28, 2014.
- 118. Idaho Department of Health and Welfare, "Early Learning Guidelines," 2014, <u>http://healthandwelfare.</u> <u>idaho.gov/Children/InfantToddlerProgram/</u> <u>EarlyLearningeGuidelines/tabid/2280/Default.aspx.</u>
- 119. Illinois State Board of Education, "Governor Quinn Declares '5Essentials Day' in Illinois to Promote Statewide Participation in UEI's School Climate Survey," Feb. 13, 2013, <u>http://uei.uchicago.edu/news/article/governorquinn-declares-5essentials-day-illinois-promote-statewideparticipation-ueis.</u>
- 120. Illinois State Board of Education, "Learning Conditions Survey," 2014, <u>http://www.isbe.net/peac/pdf/learning</u> <u>cond_survey.pdf</u>.
- 121. Kentucky Department of Education, "Learning Environment" Adair County High School, KY school report card, 2011, <u>https://applications.education.</u> <u>ky.gov/SchoolReportCardArchive/Download.</u> <u>aspx?unc=20112012\001.PDF.</u>
- 122. Anchorage School District staff (Heather Coulehan, Janet Davis, Jennifer Knutson, Clare Morrison, and Gavin Vaughan), phone interview with author, March 26, 2014; Anchorage School District, "K–12 Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) Standards and Indicators," <u>http://www. asdk12.org/media/anchorage/globalmedia/documents/sel/ SEL_Standards.pdf.</u>
- 123. Farmington Public Schools, "Farmington Graduates: Reaching Global Standards of Achievement, Leadership and Citizenship," 2014, <u>http://www.fpsct.org/page.</u> <u>cfm?p=4560</u>.
- 124. National Early Childhood Accountability Task Force, Taking Stock: Assessing and Improving Early Childhood Learning and Program Quality, 2007, <u>http://</u> policyforchildren.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Taking-Stock.pdf.
- 125. Camille A. Farrington, Melissa Roderick, Elaine Allensworth, Jenny Nagaoka, Tasha Seneca Keyes, David W. Johnson, and Nicole O. Beechum, Teaching Adolescents to Become Learners: The Role of Noncognitive Factors in Shaping School Performance: A Critical Literature Review (Chicago: University of Chicago Consortium on Chicago School Research, 2012), <u>http://ccsr.uchicago.edu/sites/ default/files/publications/Noncognitive%20Report.pdf</u>.
- 126. Sean Cavanagh, "Companies Honing Tools to Survey Students About Teachers," Education Week, August 26, 2014, <u>http://www.edweek.org/ew/</u> <u>articles/2014/08/27/02surveys.h34.html?cmp=ENL-II-NEWS2</u>.

- 127. Noalee McDonald-Augustine, former co-chair of Kansas' SECD Standards Committee, and an educational consultant at one of the state's service centers, phone interview with author, April 28, 2014.
- 128. Ashley Griffin, "The Often Forgotten Voice In Ed Reform," The Equity Line blog, July 28, 2014, <u>http://theequityline.org/wp/2014/07/28/often-forgotten-voice-ed-reform/utm_source=feedburner&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=Feed%3A+TheEquityLine+%28The+Equity+Line%29; Boston Public Schools, page for Boston Student Advisory Council, 2014, <u>http://bpsfamilies.org/bsac/bsac.</u></u>
- 129. Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL), "What is Social and Emotional Learning?" 2014, <u>http://www.casel.org/social-andemotional-learning</u>.
- 130. Character Education Partnership, "What Is Character Education?" 2014, <u>http://www.character.org/key-topics/</u> <u>what-is-character-education/</u>.
- 131. Wisconsin Center for Education Research, "Academic Enablers' Critical to Student Success," 2014, <u>http://www. wcer.wisc.edu/news/coverstories/academic_enablers.php</u>.
- 132. Camille A. Farrington, Melissa Roderick, Elaine Allensworth, Jenny Nagaoka, Tasha Seneca Keyes, David W. Johnson, and Nicole O. Beechum, Teaching Adolescents to Become Learners: The Role of Noncognitive Factors in Shaping School Performance: A Critical Literature Review (Chicago: University of Chicago Consortium on Chicago School Research, 2012), <u>http://ccsr.uchicago.edu/sites/ default/files/publications/Noncognitive%20Report.pdf</u>.
- 133. National Center for Learning Disabilities, "Executive Functioning," 2014, <u>http://www.ncld.org/types-learningdisabilities/executive-function-disorders</u>.
- 134. Partnership for 21st Century Skills, "Framework for 21st Century Learning," 2014, <u>http://www.p21.org/our-work/</u> <u>p21-framework</u>.
- 135. William and Flora Hewlett Foundation, "What Is Deeper Learning?" 2014, <u>http://www.hewlett.org/programs/</u> education/deeper-learning/what-deeper-learning.
- 136. National School Climate Center, "The 12 Dimensions of School Climate Measured," 2014, <u>http://www. schoolclimate.org/programs/documents/dimensions chart_pagebars.pdf</u>.





This report carries a Creative Commons license, which permits non-commercial re-use of New America content when proper attribution is provided. This means you are free to copy, display and distribute New America's work, or include our content in derivative works, under the following conditions:

- Attribution. You must clearly attribute the work to New America and provide a link back to <u>www.newamerica.org</u>.
- > Noncommercial. You may not use this work for commercial purposes without explicit prior permission from New America.
- > Share Alike. If you alter, transform, or build upon this work, you may distribute the resulting work only under a license identical to this one.

For the full legal code of this Creative Commons license, please visit creativecommons.org. If you have any questions about citing or reusing New America content, please contact us.

Photos in this report are supplied by, and licensed to, shutterstock.com.

© 2014 New America

